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ABOUT FEI COMPANY

FEI is the 3D innovator and lead-

ing supplier of Structural Process

Management™ solutions to the

world’s technology leaders in the

fields of semiconductors, data

storage, structural biology and

industry. Its range of industry-

leading DualBeam™ and single

column focused ion and elec-

tron beam products enables

manufacturers and researchers

to keep pace with technology

shifts and develop next genera-

tion technologies and products.

The Company’s products allow

advanced three-dimensional

metrology, device editing, trim-

ming and structural analysis for

management of deep sub-micron

structures in integrated circuits,

high density magnetic storage

devices, optical and display

devices, industrial materials,

chemical compounds, and bio-

logical structures. FEI solutions

deliver enhanced production

yields, lower costs, and faster

time to market–critical benefits

to customers in rapidly chang-

ing competitive markets.

2000 FEI Product Sales:
by Market Segment

Semiconductors  56%:

Industry & Institute  34%:

Data Storage  10%

2000 FEI Revenues by :
Product Group

MicroElectronics  54%:

Electron Optics  39%:

Components  7%

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

1998 FEI Product Sales:
by Market Segment

Semiconductors  37%:

Industry & Institute  54%:

Data Storage  9%
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Breaking Through

Breaking through deep sub-micron barriers
with 3D metrology solutions.

This is Structural Process Management.

This is FEI.



T
he year 2000 was an outstanding period of growth for FEI Company. We in-

creased our revenues by 48 percent and our cash earnings per share grew 93 per-

cent. We closed a record fourth quarter with $95 million in sales, a book to bill ratio

of 1.24, and $117.8 million in bookings. For the year, we reported a record $320 mil-

lion in revenues compared to $216 million in 1999. We also expanded our market

leadership with a suite of three-dimensional metrology products and FEI’s Structural

Process Management™ solutions.

How did we achieve this in spite of slowing business trends in the semiconductor

and data storage markets? By listening to our customers and developing solutions

for the problems they uncover as they push the boundaries of shrinking geome-

tries, introduce new materials, and increase the complexity of their device struc-

tures. Our solutions allow customers to break through the barriers of deep sub-

micron technology so they can deliver higher-value, next-generation products. We

are a technology enabler. We help customers transition through technology shifts

and throughout business cycles.

The Need for 3D is Pervasive. Our customers need to

understand and control myriad structures with geome-

tries in the nanometer and atomic scales and complexi-

ties not long ago unimagined. Three-dimensional view-

ing, measurement, control, and modification of deep

sub-micron structures is now essential. 3D Structural Pro-

cess Management from FEI delivers the advantage they

need with proven speed, reliability, and repeatability.

FEI’s 3D metrology suite is becoming a neces-

sity as chipmakers move to deep sub-micron

designs and processes. Yield-killing defects

are now smaller and are buried under the

surface. New materials and an increasing

number of layers are increasing device

complexity, making geometry control more

critical that ever before. What used to be sec-

ond order effects that could be overlooked are

now first order effects that must be controlled. Flat

surface, 2D metrology no longer yields sufficient

information.

To Our Shareholders
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In data storage, the demand for 3D solutions is expanding as the critical dimen-

sions of Giant Magneto Resistive recording heads shrink at twice the rate for semi-

conductors. Pole tip widths are being trimmed to 110 nm sizes. The use of FEI’s 3D

metrology and device trimming is expected to become even more essential for accu-

rate fabrication of these devices.

FEI’s 3D solutions are also playing an important role in Structural Biology and drug

discovery. In the post-Genomic era, researchers are finalizing the mapping of the

human genome, studying the translation of genetic information into proteins, and

looking to understand where and how proteins function within living cells. Three-

dimensional imaging of cells, cell organelles, and proteins is a necessity.

During 2000, we introduced the Expida™ 1265, a fully-automated 300 mm wafer sys-

tem for in-fab 3D metrology, and the Strata™DB 235, a small sample, 150 mm stage sys-

tem for Structural Diagnostics™. These additions to our industry-leading line of Dual-

Beam solutions and our award-winning Tecnai™ TEM underscore FEI’s 3D leadership.

Investing for Growth. Throughout the year, we continued to make strategic

investments in our operations with a focus on meeting the future demands of our

customers. Our investment in research and development increased by 44 percent

while we continued to invest in customer service and applications development.

We also continued to invest in strategic relationships. FEI’s key customer programs

enable us to develop close relationships with leading manufacturers around the world.

Strategic development programs with industry partners such as MEDEA (Micro-

Electronics Development for European Applications) and International Sematech,

among others, provide important insight. These efforts and our continuing relation-

ship with Philips Research aid us as we expand our technology portfolio and de-

velop new products with broad market appeal.

While we continue to be diligent and cautious in the prevailing market, the entire

FEI team is working to strengthen our fundamentals, increase efficiency, and sustain

the growth of our company. Through continued customer focus and ongoing prod-

uct innovation we strive to stay on the differentiated growth vector that has fueled

our outstanding progress to date.

Thank you for your continued support.

Vahé Sarkissian
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“Our solutions allow

customers to break

through the barriers

of deep sub-micron

technology so they

can deliver higher-

value, next-genera-

tion products.”



Technology Has No Vision. People Do.

Technology is constantly directing the shape of things to come.

But it is people — and their vision — who harness, create, and drive

technology solutions.

At FEI our employees worldwide have been driven by our collec-

tive vision of Structural Process Management — a comprehensive

suite of tools and solutions for our customers working in semicon-

ductors, data storage, and life and material sciences. Their innova-

tive spirit allows us to uniquely leverage our core technologies and

develop breakthrough applications for new markets. Most impor-

tantly, it has created a critical new dimension for our customers —

the third dimension.

3D Structural Process Management enables our customers to re-

search, design, and manufacture deep sub-micron structures that

are continually growing smaller. It allows them to cut, view, meas-

ure, analyze, and even modify these structures, and to understand

and control the processes that create them.

Breaking Through

The 3D View
from FEI

“FEI’s 3-D metrology suite

is becoming ever more

critical for 130 nm…”

The Chip Insider

January 29, 2001

Janet, FEI’s director of Structural

Diagnostics™ products, led the

development and commercial-

ization of  the Strata DB 235

supported by team members like

Thomas and Kristin.



3D is Breaking Through Barriers

Today’s industry drivers make 3D solutions critical to advanc-

ing deep sub-micron technology and FEI is the only company to

deliver these capabilities.

Semiconductor device geometries are moving rapidly through

180 nm nodes down to130 nm and beyond. Materials such as copper

and new dielectrics are being introduced and wafer sizes are grow-

ing. Shrinking geometries are allowing chipmakers to add more

functions per device and create entire systems on a chip. Addi-

tionally, smaller device sizes and larger 300 mm wafers are increas-

ing the number of devices that can be manufactured on each wafer.

These technology shifts have a compounding effect on structural

complexity and process development and manufacturing.

To keep the processes of next-generation chips in control, man-

ufacturers can no longer rely solely on two-dimensional, top down

metrology. Three-dimensional metrology from FEI allows manu-

facturers to view device dimensions and defects buried below the

surface. Defect characterization in 3D provides comprehensive root

cause analysis. Hence, critical data is obtained faster and tighter

control of manufacturing processes is gained.

FEI has emerged as an enabler of deep sub-micron technology,

allowing semiconductor and data storage device manufacturers to

break through current design and manufacturing limitations.

Utilization of 3D Structural Process Control™ and Structural Diag-

nostics is indispensable as manufacturers continue to face the

challenges of building more sophisticated devices in increasingly

smaller packages.

Strata DB 235

FEI’s Strata DB 235 was

introduced for the semi-

conductor market in 2000.

With a 50 mm stage, 

it is optimized for small

samples such as wafer

pieces, packaged parts,

TEM grids, and other 

sample types. The Strata

offers all the advantages

of FEI’s industry-leading

DualBeam technology,

combining high-resolu-

tion SEM and high-per-

formance FIB for 3D

Structural Diagnostics —

failure analysis and 

defect characterization. 

A small stage DualBeam

system for industrial

users will be released 

in 2001.
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Above: A hidden semi-

conductor defect as seen

“top down” in 2D and then

fully revealed in 3D.  In-lab

with the Strata DB 235 or

in-fab with the Altura™ and

Expida DualBeam Systems,

FEI delivers critical 3D data

for today’s complex devices.

LAB to FAB



We Focus Entirely on Customers

At FEI we believe our customers are individuals with specific

needs and challenges they need to overcome. Our goal is to make

them and their companies succeed. It’s why we put our primary

emphasis on understanding their challenges and strive to deliver

tailored applications.

Through our key account and collaboration programs, we fos-

ter close relationships with individuals and industry leaders. These

relationships provide an important advantage in developing and

qualifying products that provide the solutions customers need.

Our strategic alliances and joint development projects with in-

dustry consortia and companies offering complementary tech-

nologies provide us with considerable insight into industry trends

that allows us to develop new systems and create new solutions

that enable the continuing technology transitions our customers

make. These alliances ensure that FEI products have broad market

appeal and help to expand our market penetration.

Close working relationships with our individual customers and

industry partners have allowed us to build our leadership position

and expand our business. They are also indispensable for building

solutions that bridge technology shifts while increasing efficiency,

reducing costs, and shortening time to market. It’s the added value

FEI continually strives to deliver to customers and their organizations.

Breaking Through
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“FEI’s in-fab solutions for the

data storage industry have

provided an important prov-

ing ground for FEI’s in-situ

products for semiconductors.”

Expida 1265

FEI’s Expida 1265 Dual-

Beam system delivers 

fully-automated, in-line

3D characterization and

analysis of process excur-

sions and defects for both

200 and 300 mm wafers.

Developed in collabora-

tion with MEDEA (Micro-

Electronics Development

for European Applications),

it was Europe’s first 300

mm wafer system for

Structural Diagnostics.

The first Expida 1265 was

installed at France’s ST

Microelectronics in 2000.



Our Core Technologies Don’t Stand Still

FEI’s core technologies deliver a range of value-added customer

solutions because of the innovative “Break Away” thinking our

product development and applications teams apply while explor-

ing and commercializing new products.

Our core technologies are particle beam technologies (both

focused ion and electron beams), beam gas chemistry, and system

automation. We have more than 330 research and development

experts working to leverage these core strengths in various com-

binations as part of an ongoing process to identify new applica-

tions and develop new markets. Their expertise, coupled with the

knowledge gained from their close ties to customers and our in-

dustries at large, provide a powerful advantage in expanding FEI’s

technological leadership and our growing portfolio of more than

69 patents.

In the bestseller Megatrends, published nearly twenty years ago,

author John Nesbitt addressed the then-yet-to-come technology

explosion in which we are all now firmly entrenched. He wrote

that it was one of ten future trends that would transform our

lives. He was right. But technology doesn’t drive itself —

it’s people who need to overcome vast technology

shifts; it’s people who need to control com-

plicated analytical and manufacturing

processes; it’s people who need to con-

trol costs while getting next genera-

tion products to market on time. And

it’s the innovative individuals on the FEI

team who are continually developing the

solutions people need.

1 2 3 4

FEI’s 300 mm Expida

project was coordinated by

Jim, director of business development

for Structural Diagnostics products, as

one of FEI’s joint development projects

with industry consortia.
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Above: With cross-sectional 3D defect

characterization, virtually all defects

can now be identified in-line using FEI’s

Altura and Expida DualBeam systems.

1 An Expida image of defects in Ti/TiN

layer relocated in Review mode.

2 If in-depth, higher resolution analysis

on a TEM is required, a TEM lamella

from the wafer can be made automati-

cally for advanced ex-fab analysis.

3-4 Tecnai TEM images revealing that

the defect propagates from a grain

boundary in the Ti/TiN layer.

The wafer continued to move through

the process line. With their flexibility

and automation, the Expida and

Altura series represent the ultimate

tool for root cause analysis.

LAB to FAB



Expanding 3D Solutions for the Fab

FEI pioneered 3D metrology applications for the data storage in-

dustry giving manufacturers a unique ability to view the critical

dimensions of the Giant Magneto Resistive (GMR) thin film heads

that are used to write data to computer hard disks. As a result, our

solutions can provide an impressive three months return on invest-

ment due to their high impact on yield and performance of GMR

heads. FEI’s 3D applications are extendable to the back-end man-

ufacturing of thin film head assemblies and represent an impor-

tant opportunity in data storage. With production of GMR heads

expected to rise from 375 million in 1999 to 975 million by the year

2003, the demand for 3D solutions will expand as manufacturers

increase production volume and look to increase yields and prod-

uct performance.

FEI’s in-fab solutions for the data storage industry have provided

an important proving ground for FEI’s in-situ

products for semiconductors. Our fully-auto-

mated IC3D™ and Expida systems provide ad-

vanced 3D metrology and process control in

the fab by providing faster time to critical data

and allowing costly wafers to continue in the

process instead of being sacrificed to the lab.

Breaking Through
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FEI’s new IC3D

series was

introduced by

Nicholas, direc-

tor of Structural

Process Control

products (standing),

and Denis, product

marketing engineer.

In data storage, 

critical dimensions are

shrinking at twice the

rate of semiconductors.

IC3D Series

The recently released

IC3D™ Series of DualBeam

systems moves advanced 

metrology for Structural

Process Control into the

fab for semiconductor

and data storage manu-

facturers. Rapid cross-

sectional images and 

statistically meaningful

data from full wafers is

available in less than an

hour, and 3D process

monitoring provides

tighter process and

equipment control for

higher yields and 

shorter cycle times.

Increased line yields are

also achieved through

reduced wafer attrition

compared to old off-line

analysis that sacrificed

entire wafers. 

250 nm:

200:

150:

100:

50:

0 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

Deep Sub-Micron Linewidth Requirements

Data storage Semiconductor

Source is SEMATECH for IC. Data Storage was from various company �
roadmaps given to FEI.
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Ben, vice president, business line manage-

ment, at FEI’s operation in The Netherlands,

successfully launched the market-leading

Tecnai TEM. Seen with him are FEI team

members Timon, 

product manager,

TEM materials 

science, and

Francis, appli-

cation specialist

SEM/FIB.

Bringing 3D to Life

In the post-Genomic era, Structural Biology represents a signifi-

cant opportunity for FEI as drug companies and research institutions

strive to control disease and develop new therapeutics. At leading

institutions such as MRC Cambridge and The National Institutes

of Health, researchers needing to view biological samples in their

most natural state are relying on our high-end Tecnai TEMs to view

specimens at cryogenic temperatures. They can then create detailed

3D reconstructions of complex biological structures.

In one application, 3D viewing is enabling structural biologists

to better understand the translation of genetic information as

particular segments on DNA send out different messages for the

manufacture of dedicated protein “workhorses” inside living cells.

3D imaging of whole cells has now advanced to the point where it

is a realistic goal to map exactly where and how these proteins work

in the cell.

Semiconductors. Data Storage. Life Science. Material Science.

In all these fields 3D imaging, analysis, control, and even modifica-

tion has become a necessity for breaking through technology bar-

riers. It is pervasive in the markets we serve and its use will grow as

the structures our customers work with continue to shrink in size

and grow in complexity. FEI’s advanced 3D Structural Process

Management Solutions will also be instrumental as we develop

new applications and continue to cre-

ate new markets.

Left: FEI’s IC3D provides rapid

3D in-line data on hidden com-

plex structures such as those seen

here on a GMR thin-film head.

Right: A colored 3D reconstruc-

tion of an enveloped bacterial

virus was made from multiple

2D single particles recorded

using a cryo Tecnai TEM at the

University of Helsinki.

Tecnai

The award-winning

Tecnai transmission elec-

tron microscope (TEM)

continues to receive

accolades and is widely

acclaimed as the

roadmap for all future

TEMs. It was named

Product of the Year in

the 2000 Tech Awards in

North America. Its appli-

cations span all of FEI’s

markets with materials

imaging down to the

atomic level and 3D

reconstruction of biolog-

ical structures. Since its

introduction in 1999,

more than 200 Tecnai

systems have been in-

stalled around the world.

“3D viewing is enabling structural

biologists to better understand

the translation of genetic infor-

mation as particular segments

on DNA send out different mes-

sages for the manufacture of

dedicated protein ‘workhorses’

inside living cells.”

LAB to FAB



Complete Support Around the Clock, From Start to Finish

At FEI we engineer solutions so that people and their compa-

nies can succeed. From research lab to production line and right

on up to finance, the value-added benefit of our solutions can be

measured in terms of reduced development times, higher yields,

and lower production costs.

From the first sales call, to delivery and acceptance, and on

through a product’s lifecycle, FEI’s seamless network of account

managers, applications experts, and service experts are commit-

ted to delivering total  support so customers can remain focused

on their business. Ongoing applications support and 24/7 call

centers and service ensure that customers derive the full value of

their investment.

Total customer focus, a strong technology base, and talented, in-

novative people, who share the vision for 3D Structural Process

Management, have been the catalyst for FEI’s success to date. It is

this combination that will allow us to grow well into the future.

FEI team members like Hobie,

FEI’s top performing sales person

for 2000, and Joyce, material

handler, ensure that FEI cus-

tomers receive tier-one support

throughout the sales, installation,

and product life cycles.

Breaking Through 
deep sub-micron barriers. It’s what
we at FEI are all about.

3D Structural Process

Management delivers 

the advantage customers

need...and FEI is the only

company to offer it.
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The selected consolidated financial data below should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the Consolidated Financial Statements and notes
thereto included in this report.

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

11

FEI Company and Subsidiaries

(In thousands, except per share data) PEO Operations ––––––––––––– PEO Operations and FEI –––––––––––––

Years Ended December 31, 1996 1997 1998 1999 20003

Statement of Operations Data:

Net sales $ 112,384 $ 168,796 $ 178,771 $  216,152 $320,300

Cost of sales 79,065 106,629 119,579 131,143 183,178_________ _________ _________ _________ _________
Gross profit 33,319 62,167 59,192 85,009 137,122

Total operating expenses1 32,632 95,040 68,768 87,524 100,602_________ _________ _________ _________ _________
Operating income (loss) 687 (32,873) (9,576) (2,515) 36,520

Other expense, net – (622) (4,129) (65) (1,637)_________ _________ _________ _________ _________
Income (loss) before taxes and cumulative 

effect of change in accounting principle 687 (33,495) (13,705) (2,580) 34,883

Income tax expense (benefit) 740 3,107 (4,797) 4,800 14,073_________ _________ _________ _________ _________
Income (loss) before cumulative effect 

of change in accounting principle $          (53) $  (36,602) $   (8,908) $     (7,380) $   20,810_________ _________ _________ _________ __________________ _________ _________ _________ _________
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of 

change in accounting principle per share:2

Basic $         (.01) $        (2.19) $      (0.49) $      (0.34) $       0.74

Diluted $         (.01) $        (2.19) $      (0.49) $      (0.34) $       0.70

Weighted average shares outstanding:2

Basic 9,729 16,677 18,106 21,745 28,091

Diluted 9,729 16,677 18,106 21,745 29,827

(In thousands) PEO Operations ––––––––––––– PEO Operations and FEI –––––––––––––

As of December 31, 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000

Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents $               – $   16,394 $    15,198 $    11,124 $   24,031

Working capital 31,113 64,496 70,350 84,957 91,175

Total assets 71,824 183,022 191,138 288,100 314,823

Long-term interest-bearing debt – 17,844 26,349 36,012 25,674

Shareholders’ equity 43,070 104,889 97,627 152,577 168,289

1 Included in 1997 operating expenses is a charge of $38.0 million to write off acquired in-process research and development in connection with the

acquisition of the Philips electron optics business and a restructuring charge of $2.5 million incurred in connection with consolidating our Massachusetts

operations. Included in 1998 operating expenses is a restructuring charge of $5.3 million undertaken to consolidate operations, eliminate redundant

facilities, reduce operating expenses and provide for outsourcing of certain manufacturing activities. Included in 1999 operating expenses is a charge 

of $14.1 million to write off acquired in-process research and development in connection with the acquisition of Micrion Corporation in August 1999

and a restructuring charge of $0.1 million.

2 Income (loss) before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle per share has been calculated assuming that the shares of our common stock

issued to Philips in the acquisition of the Philips electron optics business were outstanding for the combined company for all periods presented and

assuming the shares of our common stock outstanding before the acquisition of the Philips electron optics business were issued as of the closing date 

of the acquisition of the Philips electron optics business.

3 Reflects the implementation of U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, Revenue Recognition in Financial
Statements or SAB 101.



Overview

We are a leader in the design, manufacture, sale and
service of Structural Process Management solutions for the
high-growth segments of the semiconductor, data stor-
age and industry and institute markets. Structural Process

Management solutions consist of systems that use
charged particle beam technology to measure, analyze,
diagnose and modify sub-micron, multi-dimensional
structures found in semiconductors, data storage com-
ponents, biological samples and industrial compounds.
Our products include electron microscopes, focused ion
beam, or FIB systems, and DualBeam systems that com-
bine an FIB column with a scanning electron micro-
scope in a single system. Our customers include leading
semiconductor and data storage manufacturers, as well
as educational and research institutions and industrial
companies located throughout the world. We also
design, manufacture and sell components of electron
microscopes and FIB systems to a limited number of
original equipment manufacturer, or OEM, customers.
We have research and development and manufacturing
operations located in Hillsboro, Oregon; Peabody,
Massachusetts; Eindhoven, The Netherlands; and Brno,
Czech Republic. We have sales and service subsidiaries
in 22 countries located throughout North America,
Europe and the Asia Pacific region. We also use inde-
pendent agents to sell some of our products in various
countries, particularly in the Asia Pacific region.

FEI was founded in 1971 to design and manufacture
charged particle emitters (ion and electron sources). We
began manufacturing and selling ion and electron focus-
ing columns in the early 1980s and began manufactur-
ing FIB workstations in 1989. In 1993 we manufactured
and sold our first DualBeam systems. In 1997, we
acquired substantially all of the assets and liabilities of
Philips’ electron optics division, a manufacturer of elec-
tron microscopes headquartered in Eindhoven, The
Netherlands, in exchange for 55% of our common stock
outstanding after issuance. As a result of this transaction
we became a majority owned subsidiary of Philips. The
combination with Philips gave us expanded research
and development capabilities, increased manufacturing
capacity, a worldwide sales and service organization and
additional financial resources. In 1999 we acquired
Micrion Corporation, a manufacturer of single beam FIB
systems headquartered in Peabody, Massachusetts. The
acquisition of Micrion broadened our product lines,

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

added research and development strength and expand-
ed our sales and service capabilities in the U.S., Japan
and Taiwan. We expect to continue to expand our busi-
ness in the future through internal growth and strategic
acquisitions and partnerships.

Since 1998, we have experienced growth across all
business segments, geographic territories and target
end-markets. Growth drivers for our business in the
semiconductor industry include shrinking feature
geometries, the transition to copper and new dielectrics,
the transition to 300-millimeter size wafers and shorten-
ing product life cycles. In the data storage market, our
growth is being driven by the need to measure, analyze
and modify increasingly smaller sub-surface features
and by the need to trim smaller size pole tips for writing
data to the disk surface. In the industry and institute
markets, our growth is being driven by the growing need
for ultra high resolution and expanding research into
biological structures. Notwithstanding these factors, a
downturn in general economic conditions in the U.S. or
in the markets for our customers’ products could result
in a reduction in demand for our products. We make no
assurances that we will be able to maintain or exceed our
current level of sales in any downturn.

Our standard billing terms usually include a holdback
of 10 to 20 percent of the total selling price until com-
pletion of the installation and final acceptance of our
equipment at the customer’s site. Effective January 1,
2000, we changed our revenue recognition policy to
defer the portion of revenue related to installation and
final acceptance until the installation and final accept-
ance are completed. This change was made in accor-
dance with the implementation of U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No.
101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements or SAB
101. Previously, we had recognized 100 percent of rev-
enue for products when title passed to the customer. The
effect of this change, net of income taxes, is reported as
the cumulative effect of a change in accounting princi-
ple in the results of operations for 2000. This net effect
reflects the deferral as of January 1, 2000 of $8.4 million
of revenue previously recognized. We recognized all of
this $8.4 million in revenue during the year ended
December 31, 2000. SAB 101 had a negative effect on our
reported revenues of $7.9 million for 2000, and we
expect it to continue to reduce reported revenues in the
future. We also receive revenue from services provided to
our customers. Revenue from time and materials based
service arrangements is recognized as the service is per-
formed. Revenue from service contracts is recognized
ratably over the term of the service contracts.
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The sales cycle for our systems typically ranges from 3
to 12 months, and can be longer when our customers
are evaluating new applications of our technology. Due
to the length of these cycles, we invest heavily in
research and development and in sales and marketing in
advance of generating revenue related to these invest-
ments. Additionally, we sometimes loan equipment to
customers for their use in evaluating our products. We
have also engaged in joint application development
arrangements with some of our customers. We make no
assurances that these efforts will result in the sale of our
equipment to these customers. We expect to continue
these practices in the future.

Our customer base is diverse, but we have historically
derived a significant portion of our revenue from sales to
a few key customers, and we expect that trend to contin-
ue. Sales to our top 10 customers accounted for 31% of
our total net sales in 2000 and 29% of our total net sales
in 1999, however, no one customer exceeded 10% of our
net sales for either 1999 or 2000.

Many of our microelectronics and electron optics
products carry high sales values. Our systems range in
list price from about $0.2 million to $3.4 million. We
have derived a substantial portion of our revenue from
the sale of a relatively small number of units and we ex-
pect that trend to continue. As a result, the timing of
revenue recognition from a single order could have a sig-
nificant impact on our net sales and operating results for
a given reporting period. A substantial portion of our
net sales have generally been realized near the end of
each quarter and sales of electron optics products to gov-
ernment-funded customers have generally been signifi-
cantly higher in the fourth quarter. Accordingly, delays
in shipments near the end of a quarter could have a sub-
stantial negative effect on operating results for that quar-
ter. Announcements by our competitors or us of new
products and technologies could cause customers to
defer purchases of our existing systems, which could
also have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

A significant portion of our revenue has been derived
from customers outside of the U.S., and we expect that
trend to continue. Total net sales outside the U.S. were
59% in 1998, 57% in 1999 and 58% in 2000.

In addition to the U.S. dollar, we conduct significant
business in euros, British pounds, and Japanese yen.
Because of our substantial research and development
and manufacturing operations in Europe, we incur a
greater proportion of our costs in Europe than the rev-

enue we derive from that geographic region. Our raw
materials, labor and other manufacturing costs are pri-
marily denominated in U.S. dollars, euros and Czech
korunas. This situation has the effect of improving our
gross margins and results of operations when the dollar
strengthens in relation to the euro or koruna, as was the
case in 1999 and 2000. A weakening of the dollar in rela-
tion to the euro or Czech koruna would have an adverse
effect on our reported results of operations. Movement
of Asian currencies in relation to the dollar and euro can
also affect our reported sales and results of operations
because we derive a greater proportion of revenue from
the Asia Pacific region than the costs we incur there. We
attempt to mitigate our currency translation and trans-
action exposures by using forward exchange contracts
and by borrowing in multiple currencies. We also nego-
tiate the selling currency for our products with our cus-
tomers to reduce the impact of currency fluctuations.

Our gross margins have improved over the last two
years due to several factors. The most significant factor
has been the change in our product mix. In general, our
microelectronics products carry higher gross margins
than our electron optics products, and microelectronics
products have increased from 30.5% of our net sales in
1998 to 46.0% of our net sales in 2000. We expect the
proportion of microelectronics product sales to contin-
ue to increase in the future. In addition to shifts in prod-
uct mix and the favorable effect of exchange rate fluctu-
ations mentioned above, our gross margins have been
positively affected by increased production volume,
greater factory overhead absorption and lower manufac-
turing costs from outsourcing certain subassemblies.
Our service segment gross margins have been positively
affected by improved economies of scale from an
increase in our installed base of systems, and negatively
affected by the additional sales, distribution and service
operations we purchased from Philips in December
1999, which have lower average service business gross
margins than our other larger and more established
service operations. In addition to the factors discussed
above, we expect that potential pricing pressure from
competitors that introduce new products into our mar-
kets may adversely affect our gross margins in the future.

13

FEI Company and Subsidiaries



We derive significant benefits from our relationship
with Philips. These benefits include access to patents
and intellectual property and research and develop-
ment services, participation in Philips’ collective bar-
gaining agreements and pension plans, participation in
Philips’ insurance programs and the Philips credit facil-
ity, access to Philips’ information technology systems
and export and purchasing services provided by Philips.
On the earlier of 120 days after Philips’ ownership falls
below 45% of our outstanding common stock or 120
days after Philips no longer includes FEI in its consoli-
dated group for financial reporting purposes, we expect
to begin to incur additional labor and operating costs in
an aggregate amount of approximately $4 million to $5
million per year. These costs will be partially offset by
payments to us from Philips of up to $6 million over a
three-year period pursuant to our agreement with
Philips.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our statement of opera-
tions data as a percentage of net sales.

Years Ended December 31, 1998 1999 2000

Net sales 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Cost of sales 66.9 60.7 57.2______ ______ ______
Gross profit 33.1 39.3 42.8

Research and development 10.9 10.1 9.9

Selling, general and 
administrative 23.2 22.0 19.6

Amortization of purchased 
goodwill and technology 1.4 1.7 1.9

Purchased in-process 
research and development 
costs 0.0 6.5 0.0

Restructuring and 
reorganization costs 3.0 0.1 0.0______ ______ ______

Operating income (loss) (5.4) (1.2) 11.4

Other expense, net (2.3) 0.0 (0.5)______ ______ ______
Income (loss) before taxes 

and cumulative effect of 
change in accounting 
principle (7.7) (1.2) 10.9

Tax expense (benefit) (2.7) 2.2 4.4______ ______ ______
Income (loss) before 

cumulative effect of change 
in accounting principle (5.0) (3.4) 6.5

Cumulative effect of change 
in accounting principle 0.0 0.0 (2.3)______ ______ ______

Net income (loss) (5.0)% (3.4)% 4.2%______ ______ ____________ ______ ______

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CONTINUED

Net Sales

Net sales include sales in our microelectronics, electron
optics, components and service segments. Net sales in
2000 increased $104.1 million (48%) compared to 1999.
Net sales in 1999 increased $37.4 million (21%) com-
pared to 1998. The acquisition of Micrion, completed in
August 1999, contributed $31.9 million to 2000 net sales
and $12.8 million to 1999 net sales. The acquisition of
the additional sales, distribution and service operations
from Philips in December 1999 contributed $8.8 million
to 2000 net sales.

Microelectronics segment sales increased $63.2 mil-
lion (75%) in 2000 compared to 1999. Of this increase,
$12.8 million was attributable to the acquisition of
Micrion, which was included in our results of operations
for all of 2000 compared to only five months in 1999.
Microelectronics segment sales increased $29.5 million
(54%) in 1999 compared to 1998. Of this increase, $9.3
million was attributable to the acquisition of Micrion.
The development of new applications for our products
as well as increased acceptance and penetration in the
semiconductor, data storage and industry and institute
markets has contributed to increased demand and sales
volume for this segment. In addition, industry condi-
tions in both the semiconductor manufacturing sector
and the data storage sectors were generally stronger in
2000 and 1999 than in 1998.

Electron optics segment sales increased $24.8 million
(30%) in 2000 compared to 1999. We began shipping a
new series of TEM products under the Tecnai name in
1999 and strong demand for these products resulted in a
53% increase in 2000 TEM sales. TEM sales increased in
2000 in the industry and institute market, as well as in
the semiconductor market. Sales of our SEM products
increased 9% from 1999 to 2000. Electron optics seg-
ment product sales increased $3.3 million (4%) in 1999
compared to 1998. Our TEM sales increase in 1999 over
1998 from the new Tecnai product line was partially off-
set by a reduction in SEM sales in 1999 compared to
1998, primarily due to increased competition.

Components segment sales increased $6.5 million
(56%) in 2000 compared to 1999. Demand for our com-
ponent products by our OEM customers increased sharply
in late 1999 and continued through 2000, as customers
increased their production requirements. Sales in the
components segment decreased $3.8 million (24%) in
1999 compared to 1998. The demand for components
segment products was weak in the first half of 1999 due
to customers’ utilization of on-hand inventories.
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Service sales increased $9.5 million (26%) in 2000
compared to 1999. Service sales increased $8.5 million
(29%) in 1999 compared to 1998. The acquisition of the
additional sales, distribution and service operations from
Philips in December 1999 added $4.2 million to 2000
service segment revenues and $0.5 million to 1999 serv-
ice segment revenues. In addition, the acquisition of
Micrion in August 1999 contributed to our growth in
service segment sales in both 1999 and 2000. The
remaining increases in service segment revenues were
primarily the result of an increase in the number of sys-
tems in our installed base. In addition, we increased
sales in the semiconductor and data storage markets and
the customers in these markets tend to have higher
demands for service response time. In general, our serv-
ice contracts carry higher prices as the guaranteed
response time is shortened.

Years Ended December 31, 1998 1999 2000

Net sales by geographic region:
North America 42% 44% 43%

Europe 34 29 27

Asia Pacific 22 25 29

Rest of world 2 2 1______ ______ ______
100% 100% 100%

Net sales increased from 1999 to 2000 in each of the
three major geographic regions in which we sell: North
America, Europe, and Asia Pacific. In North America,
sales increased by $43.6 million (46%) from 1999 to
2000 primarily due to increased demand for our prod-
ucts in the semiconductor, data storage and industry
and institute markets in that region. In Europe, sales
increased by $24.6 million (39%) from 1999 to 2000 pri-
marily due to increased demand in the semiconductor
industry and strong demand for our new Tecnai TEM
products. Service revenues also increased in Europe due
to the acquisition of the additional sales, distribution
and service operations from Philips in December 1999 
as well as the increased installed base of systems. In the
Asia Pacific region, sales increased by $40.8 million
(77%) from 1999 to 2000 primarily due to increased
demand in the semiconductor and data storage indus-
tries in that region. From 1998 to 1999, sales in North
America increased $19.7 million (27%), sales in Europe
increased $2.2 million (4%) and sales in the Asia Pacific
region increased $13.7 million (35%). The increase in
1999 sales in North America was primarily due to in-
creased demand in the semiconductor industry in that
region. The increase in 1999 sales in Europe was primari-
ly due to increased service revenue resulting from the
increase in our installed base of systems and also the
acquisition of the additional sales, distribution and 
service operations from Philips in December 1999. 

Sales increased in the Asia Pacific region in 1999 primari-
ly due to increased demand for our products in the data
storage industry in that region.

Our billing terms on equipment sales generally in-
clude a holdback of 10 to 20 percent of the total pur-
chase price subject to completion of the installation
and final acceptance process at the customer site.
Effective January 1, 2000, we changed our revenue
recognition policy to defer the portion of the billing
related to installation and final acceptance until the
installation and final acceptance are completed. This
change was made in accordance with SAB 101. The
effect of this change was to reduce reported sales rev-
enue for 2000 by $7.9 million.

Gross Profit

Cost of sales includes manufacturing costs such as 
materials, labor (both direct and indirect) and factory
overhead, as well as all of the costs of our customer serv-
ice function such as labor, materials, travel and over-
head. Gross profit as a percentage of sales, or gross mar-
gin was 33.1% in 1998, 39.3% in 1999 and 42.8% in
2000. The 2000 gross margin was negatively affected by
the change in our revenue recognition policy in accor-
dance with SAB 101. Without this effect, the 2000 gross
margin would have been 44.3%. The 1999 gross margin
was negatively affected by $1.0 million of non-cash
inventory step-up adjustments related to the Micrion
acquisition. Without these purchase accounting effects,
the gross margin would have been 39.8% in 1999.
During the third quarter of 1998, we recognized charges
totaling $9.5 million in cost of sales for inventory write-
offs, obsolescence reserves, reserves for product up-
grades and increased warranty reserves. Excluding the
effect of these charges, the 1998 gross margin would
have been 38.4%.

The improvement in our gross margin over the last
three years is primarily attributable to changes in prod-
uct mix. In addition, more favorable factory overhead
absorption from higher production volumes contributed
to improved gross margins. Lower manufacturing costs
from outsourcing various manufacturing activities in
1998 and 1999 for several mechanical and electrical sub-
assemblies also contributed to the increase in gross mar-
gins. Our gross margin has also improved from 1998 to
2000 as a result of the weakening of European currencies
compared to the U.S. dollar. Our service segment experi-
enced a decrease in gross margin from 1999 to 2000 pri-
marily due to the impact of the additional sales, distri-
bution and service operations purchased from Philips 
in December 1999, which have lower average service
business gross margins than our other larger and more
established service operations.
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Research and Development Costs

Research and development, or R&D, costs include
labor, materials, overhead and payments to Philips and
other third parties incurred in research and development
of new products and new software, or enhancements to
existing products and software. R&D costs increased $9.7
million (44%) in 2000 compared to 1999 and increased
$2.4 million (12%) in 1999 compared to 1998. As a per-
centage of sales, R&D costs were 10.9%, 10.1% and 9.9%
for 1998, 1999 and 2000, respectively. The acquisition of
Micrion in August 1999 added $2.3 million of R&D costs
in 1999, and $6.9 million of R&D costs in 2000. R&D
costs are reported net of subsidies and capitalized soft-
ware development costs. These offsets totaled $3.8 mil-
lion in 1998, $6.2 million in 1999, and $6.2 million in
2000. Excluding the effects of these offsets and the effect
of the Micrion acquisition, R&D costs increased $5.1
million (20%) in 2000 compared to 1999 and increased
$2.1 million (9%) in 1999 compared to 1998. We are
continuing to invest in the development of product
improvements and upgrades, new software systems and
new products to broaden the product line offerings of
our business segments. We expect to continue to
increase our total R&D expenditures in the near term.

Selling, General and Administrative Costs

Selling, general and administrative, or SG&A, costs
include labor, travel and overhead incurred in our sales, 
marketing, management and administrative support
functions. SG&A costs include sales commissions paid
to our employees as well as to our agents. SG&A costs for
2000 increased $15.2 million (32%) compared to 1999,
and increased $6.2 million (15%) in 1999 compared to
1998. As a percentage of sales, SG&A costs were 23.2% 
in 1998, 22.0% in 1999 and 19.6% in 2000. The increase
in SG&A costs from 1999 to 2000 was partially due to
the acquisition of Micrion and the additional sales, dis-
tribution and service operations from Philips in 1999.
SG&A costs also increased in dollar amount from 1999
to 2000 as a result of higher sales volumes. The decrease
in SG&A costs as a percentage of sales from 1999 to 2000
is primarily attributable to higher sales volumes and 
the fact that many SG&A costs are fixed or semi-fixed
rather than variable in nature. The increase in SG&A
costs in 1999 was primarily attributable to the acquisi-
tion of Micrion in August 1999, as well as the acquisition
of the additional sales, distribution and service opera-
tions from Philips.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CONTINUED

Amortization of Purchased Goodwill 

and Technology

Purchase accounting for the acquisition of Philips’ elec-
tron optics division in 1997 resulted in the recognition
of intangible assets in the amount of $16.5 million for
existing technology that is being amortized over a 12-
year period, and goodwill of $17.1 million that is being
amortized over a 15-year period. Purchase accounting
for the Micrion acquisition in August 1999 resulted in
the recognition of intangible assets in the amount of
$16.3 million for existing technology that is being amor-
tized over a 10-year period, and goodwill of $24.1 mil-
lion that is being amortized over a 12-year period.
Amortization of purchased goodwill and technology for
2000 increased $2.4 million (65%) compared to 1999,
reflecting 12 months amortization from the Micrion
acquisition compared to approximately four months
amortization in 1999. Amortization of purchased good-
will and technology increased by $1.2 million (48%) in
1999 compared to 1998 as a result of the Micrion acqui-
sition. Read also note 2 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements included in this report.

Purchased In-Process Research and Development

In connection with the purchase accounting for the
Micrion acquisition, we identified four significant proj-
ects under development at the date of the acquisition.
Two of those projects represented enhancements to the
resolution and automation of existing products designed
primarily for the semiconductor industry. The third
project represented enhancements to the automation of
products for the data storage industry. The fourth proj-
ect represented development efforts on products for the
lithography photo mask repair market. None of these
projects had been proven technologically feasible or had
generated revenue as of the date of the evaluation. In
accordance with our policy to expense research and
development costs as they are incurred, we recorded a
one-time charge of $14.1 million associated with the
write-off of acquired in-process R&D immediately after
the closing of the Micrion acquisition. Read also note 2
to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in
this report.
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Restructuring and Reorganization Costs

In 1998, we implemented a restructuring and reorgani-
zation program to consolidate operations, eliminate
redundant facilities, reduce operating expenses and
provide for outsourcing of various manufacturing activ-
ities. The program provided for the elimination of
approximately 173 positions worldwide, or about 16%
of our work force as of July 31, 1998. The charge of $5.3
million recognized in 1998 represented the cost of pro-
viding severance, outplacement assistance and associat-
ed benefits to affected employees, as well as moving and
lease abandonment costs associated with closing dupli-
cate facilities. The charge of $0.1 million recognized in
1999 represented the cost of relocating various office
facilities. Read also note 3 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements included in this report.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Interest income for 1998, 1999 and 2000 represents in-
terest earned on the short-term temporary investment
of excess cash. The increase in interest income in 2000
compared to 1999, and 1999 compared to 1998 is pri-
marily the result of increased principal invested as well
as higher average interest rates. Interest expense for the
same periods represents interest incurred on borrow-
ings under our bank line of credit facilities and on bor-
rowings from Philips under the Philips credit facility.
Interest expense increased in 2000 compared with
1999, reflecting higher levels of borrowing and higher
average interest rates. The 1999 interest expense gener-
ally reflects higher levels of borrowing offset by lower
interest rates under the Philips credit facility as com-
pared to our 1998 borrowings.

In September 1998, we reduced to zero the carrying
value of our cost-method investment in Norsam Tech-
nologies, Inc. and, accordingly, recorded a $3.3 million
valuation adjustment. We revised our projections of
future cash flows that we expected to receive from this
investment based on Norsam’s operating results and its
divestiture of various operating assets.

Income Tax Expense

Our effective income tax rate was 40% for 2000 and 35%
for 1998. Our effective tax rate in those years differed
from the U.S. federal statutory tax rate primarily as a
result of the amortization of intangible assets not
deductible for income tax purposes as well as the effects
of state and foreign taxes and our use of a foreign sales
corporation for exports from the U.S., among other fac-
tors. For 1999, our effective tax rate was negative 186%
due primarily to the nondeductible write-off of pur-
chased in-process research and development costs, as
well as the other factors mentioned above.

Cumulative Effect of Change in 

Accounting Principle

Effective January 1, 2000, we changed our revenue
recognition policy to defer the portion of the billing
related to installation and final acceptance at the cus-
tomer site until the installation and final acceptance are
completed. This change was made in accordance with
SAB 101. The effect of this change, net of income taxes,
is reported as the cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle in the year ended December 31,
2000. This net effect reflects the deferral as of January 1,
2000 of $8.4 million of revenue previously recognized.
All such revenue initially deferred on January 1, 2000
upon adoption of SAB 101 was recognized during 2000.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and cash equivalents increased by $12.9 million in
2000 to $24.0 million as of December 31, 2000. In 1999
cash and cash equivalents decreased by $4.1 million to
$11.1 million as of December 31, 1999. Net cash provid-
ed by operations was $38.4 million in 2000, 137% high-
er than the $16.2 million provided by operations in
1999, which was 474% higher than the $2.8 million 
provided by operations in 1998. Excluding the effects 
of changes in working capital components, operating
activities generated $25.3 million of cash in 2000 and
$21.0 million in 1999, and used $3.0 million of cash in
1998. The improved cash flow from operations was pri-
marily due to improved operating results over this three-
year period.
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Accounts receivable increased $6.1 million from 1999
to 2000 and $24.0 million from 1998 to 1999. The in-
crease in receivables was due to increased sales volume
for both periods, and for 1999, also a result of the acqui-
sitions of Micrion and the additional sales, distribution
and service operations from Philips. Our days sales out-
standing, or DSO, improved from 131 days at the end of
1999 to 95 days at the end of 2000. Changing our rev-
enue recognition policy in accordance with SAB 101
reduced the recorded balance of accounts receivable as
of December 31, 2000 by $16.4 million. Without this
change in revenue recognition policy, our DSO would
have been 111 days for the year ended December 31, 2000.
Inventories increased $0.3 million from 1999 to 2000
and $16.0 million from 1998 to 1999. The increase in
1999 was primarily due to the two acquisitions completed
in that year. During 2000, we were able to manage our
inventory levels more effectively despite the growth in
our sales and improved our inventory turnover rate from
2.2 in 1999 to 3.1 in 2000. Current liabilities increased
$23.1 million from 1999 to 2000 and $30.7 million from
1998 to 1999. These increases resulted from growth in
our business as well as the two 1999 acquisitions.

We incurred capital expenditures for acquisition of
equipment of $13.9 million in 2000, $8.3 million in
1999 and $11.9 million in 1998. These expenditures
included application laboratory and demonstration 
systems, which exhibit the capabilities of our equip-
ment to our customers and potential customers. We
have expanded our demonstration capabilities over the
last three years. The lower capital spending level in 1999
was in anticipation of the business combination with
Micrion, which added both domestic and offshore
application laboratory and demonstration equipment.
We also invest in equipment for development, manufac-
turing and testing purposes. We lease the real property
used in our business. We expect capital expenditures in
2001 to increase to between $15.0 million and $18.0 
million. We also invest in internally developed software,
which controls our equipment and provides informa-
tion from the equipment for use by customers. We capi-
talized software development costs of $2.4 million in
2000, $2.9 million in 1999 and $2.3 million in 1998. 
We also expect these expenditures to increase in the
near term as we introduce new products and add new
applications to our existing products.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CONTINUED

During 1999, we made several business investments
in addition to ongoing investments in equipment and
product development. The largest of these investments
was the August 1999 purchase of Micrion. Purchase con-
sideration for this transaction, including transaction
costs, consisted of cash and shares of our common stock
totaling $69.4 million. The cash portion of the purchase
price, paid to Micrion’s former shareholders, totaled
$32.9 million. In September 1999, we invested $3.0 mil-
lion to acquire a 9.5 % interest in Surface/Interface, a
start-up company, which introduced an atomic force
microscopy tool for the semiconductor industry. In con-
junction with the investment, we entered into a distri-
bution agreement through which we market, sell and
service the equipment. We also obtained an option to
purchase additional equity at a predetermined price. In
June 2000, we invested an additional $1.3 million in
Surface/ Interface, bringing our ownership percentage to
12.6% as of December 31, 2000. In December 1999, we
acquired additional sales, distribution and service opera-
tions from Philips in a number of smaller market areas.
Purchase consideration included a cash payment of $3.3
million to Philips, which was recorded as a dividend
because the transaction was between entities under
common control. We expect to continue to use acquisi-
tion and investment opportunities to augment our
growth and market position.

We entered into a $50 million unsecured revolving
credit agreement on February 25, 1999 with Philips. We
used this facility to pay-off the balance and terminate
our previous credit facility. In August 2000, the Philips
credit facility was amended, increasing our borrowing
capacity to $75 million. The Philips credit facility
matures on February 26, 2002. The credit facility termi-
nates on the earlier of 120 days after Philips Business
Electronics’ ownership falls below 45% of our outstand-
ing common stock or 120 days after Philips no longer
includes FEI in its consolidated group for financial
reporting purposes. The funds may be drawn either in
the U.S. or offshore in a choice of three currencies.
Under terms of the agreement, we must comply with
customary banking terms and conditions including
financial covenants that require specific minimum equi-
ty levels and minimum operating income to interest
expense ratios. As of December 31, 2000, we were in com-
pliance with the covenants in the agreement. Interest
on the outstanding balance is based on an applicable
LIBOR rate for one, three or six months at our option
plus 0.75%. As of December 31, 2000, borrowings under
the credit facility were $24.1 million, providing unused
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credit capacity of $50.9 million. We also maintain a $10
million unsecured and uncommitted bank borrowing
facility in the U.S. and various limited facilities in select-
ed foreign countries. In addition, we maintain a $5.0
million unsecured and uncommitted bank facility in the
U.S. for the purpose of issuing standby letters of credit.

In August 1999, in connection with the acquisition
of Micrion, we sold 3,913,299 shares to Philips Business
Electronics in a private transaction providing $31.4 mil-
lion in net proceeds to us. We also issue shares to fund
our employee stock purchase plan, which enables em-
ployees to purchase our stock at a 15% discount to mar-
ket price at fixed points in time. We also grant options
to purchase our shares to many of our employees and
directors as part of incentive and other compensation
programs. During 2000, 600,012 shares were sold or
granted under these programs as compared to 1,161,565
shares sold or granted in 1999 and 1,790,818 shares sold
or granted in 1998.

We assess liquidity needs by evaluating cash balances
on hand, available borrowings under our credit facilities,
working capital trends and expected cash flows from
operating activities versus our investment needs. In con-
sideration of these factors, we believe that we have ade-
quate financial resources for at least the next 12 months.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging

Activities, or SFAS No. 133. The statement requires recog-
nition of all derivatives as either assets or liabilities on
the balance sheet at fair value. We adopted SFAS No. 133
effective January 1, 2001. Because of our minimal use of
derivatives, the adoption of SFAS No. 133 did not have a
material effect on our earnings or financial position.

Backlog

Our backlog consists of purchase orders we have re-
ceived for products and services we expect to ship and
deliver within the next 12 months. At December 31,
2000, our total backlog was $166 million. At December
31, 1999, our total backlog was $102 million. We expect
to ship all products and deliver all services represented
by this backlog in 2001, although there is no assurance
that we will be able to do so. Customers may cancel or
delay delivery on previously placed orders, although 
our standard terms and conditions include penalties for
cancellations made close to the scheduled delivery date. 

A substantial portion of our backlog relates to orders for
products with a relatively high average selling price. As 
a result, the timing of the receipt of orders or the ship-
ment of products could have a significant impact on 
our backlog at any date. For this and other reasons, the
amount of backlog at any date is not necessarily indica-
tive of revenue in future periods.

Quarterly Results of Operations

The following table presents unaudited consolidated
financial data for each of the eight quarters in 1999 and
2000. In our opinion, this information has been pre-
pared on the same basis as the audited consolidated
financial information appearing elsewhere in this report
and includes all adjustments, consisting only of normal
recurring adjustments, except for the adjustments
described in the following paragraphs, necessary for a
fair presentation of the financial position and results of
operations for these periods. The operating results for
any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for
any future period.

The results for the three months ended April 4, 1999
include restructuring and reorganization charges of $0.1
million. The results for the three months ended October
3, 1999 include a charge of $12.0 million for estimated
purchased in-process research and development associ-
ated with the acquisition of Micrion. The results for the
three months ended December 31, 1999 include a
charge of $2.1 million for the final purchased in-process
research and development associated with the acquisi-
tion of Micrion.

As discussed in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements included elsewhere in this report, we changed
our accounting method for revenue recognition in the
fourth quarter of the year ended December 31, 2000,
effective January 1, 2000, in accordance with the re-
quirements of SAB 101. Accordingly, the following unau-
dited quarterly consolidated financial data for the first
three quarters of fiscal 2000 have been restated to reflect
the impact of the change in accounting principle as if it
had been adopted on January 1, 2000. The results for the
three months ended April 2, 2000, include the cumula-
tive effect of implementing SAB 101.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CONTINUED
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––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– 2000 –––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
April 4 as July 2 as October 1 as 

Previously April 4 as Previously July 2 as Previously October 1 as

Reported Restated Reported Restated Reported Restated December 31

Net sales $ 67,153 $ 64,722 $ 78,902 $ 77,843 $ 86,021 $ 82,791 $ 94,944
Cost of sales 39,985 37,225 44,812 46,095 47,257 48,863 50,995________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________
Gross profit 27,168 27,497 34,090 31,748 38,764 33,928 43,949
Total operating expenses 22,209 22,209 24,166 24,166 25,751 25,751 28,476________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________
Operating income 4,959 5,288 9,924 7,582 13,013 8,177 15,473
Other income (expense), 

net (212) (212) (548) (548) (434) (434) (443)________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________
Income before taxes and 

cumulative effect of change 
in accounting principle 4,747 5,076 9,376 7,034 12,579 7,743 15,030

Income tax expense 1,992 2,114 3,658 2,791 5,106 3,317 5,851________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________
Income before cumulative
Effect of change in 

accounting principle $    2,755 $   2,962 $   5,718 $    4,243 $   7,473 $    4,426 $   9,179
Cumulative effect of change 

in accounting principle -0- (7,499) -0- -0- -0- -0- -0-________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________
Net income (loss) $    2,755 $  (4,537) $   5,718 $    4,243 $     7,473 $    4,426 $     9,179________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________
Income before cumulative
Effect of change in 

accounting principle 
per share:
Basic $      0.10 $      0.11 $      0.21 $      0.15 $       0.27 $      0.16 $       0.32
Diluted $      0.10 $      0.10 $      0.20 $      0.15 $      0.25 $      0.15 $      0.31

Shares used in per share
calculation:
Basic 27,603 27,603 27,890 27,890 28,121 28,121 28,315
Diluted 28,780 28,780 28,971 28,971 29,872 29,872 29,702

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– 1999 –––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
April 4 July 4 October 3 December 31

Net sales $ 45,408 $ 45,722 $ 52,044 $ 72,978
Cost of sales 28,083 27,552 32,017 43,491________ ________ ________ ________
Gross profit 17,325 18,170 20,027 29,487
Total operating expenses 16,513 16,342 29,919 24,750________ ________ ________ ________
Operating income (loss) 812 1,828 (9,892) 4,737
Other income (expense), 

net 326 (166) (286) 61________ ________ ________ ________
Income (loss) before taxes 1,138 1,662 (10,178) 4,798
Income tax expense 432 688 867 2,813________ ________ ________ ________
Net income (loss) $        706 $       974 $ (11,045) $     1,985________ ________ ________ ________________ ________ ________ ________
Income (loss) per share:

Basic $      0.04 $       0.05 $     (0.48) $       0.07
Diluted $      0.04 $       0.05 $    (0.48) $       0.07

Shares used in per 
share calculation:
Basic 18,205 18,319 23,017 27,417
Diluted 19,260 19,314 23,017 28,510



Our operating results have fluctuated in the past and
may fluctuate significantly in the future. Fluctuations in
operating results may be caused by a variety of factors,
including the relatively high unit cost of our microelec-
tronics and electron optics products, competitive pric-
ing pressures, conditions in our principal markets, the
timing of orders from major customers and new product
introductions, customer cancellation or delay 
of shipments, long sales cycles, changes in the mix of
products sold and the proportion of domestic and inter-
national sales, specific feature requests by customers,
product delays and supply chain difficulties and curren-
cy exchange rate fluctuations. We will continue to
derive a substantial portion of our revenues from the
sale of a relatively small number of microelectronics
products. As a result, the timing of revenue recognition
from a single order could have a significant impact on
our net sales and operating results for a reporting period.
A substantial portion of our net sales have generally
been realized near the end of each quarter and sales of
electron optics products to government-funded cus-
tomers have generally been significantly higher in the
fourth quarter.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
about Market Risk

A large portion of our business is conducted outside of
the United States through a number of foreign subsidi-
aries. Each of the foreign subsidiaries keeps its account-
ing records in its respective local currency. These local
currency denominated accounting records are translated
at exchange rates which fluctuate up or down from peri-
od to period and consequently affect the consolidated
results of operations and financial position. The major
foreign currencies in which we face periodic fluctuations
are the euro (and the related underlying European cur-
rencies), the Czech koruna, the Japanese yen and the
British pound sterling. Although for each of the last
three years more than 55% of our sales occurred outside
of the U.S., a large portion of these foreign sales were
denominated in U.S. dollars and euros (Dutch guilders

in 1998). As a result, despite an overall strengthening of
the U.S. dollar against European currencies in 2000, net
sales were not materially affected since the impact of the
strengthening of the U.S. dollar against European cur-
rencies was offset by the impact of the dollar weakening
against the Japanese yen. Assets and liabilities of foreign
subsidiaries are translated using the exchange rates in
effect at the balance sheet date. The resulting translation
adjustments reduced shareholders’ equity and compre-
hensive income for 2000 by $1.7 million.

Our primary exposure to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates results from intercompany loans made
between the U.S. and Dutch subsidiaries and its other
foreign subsidiaries. We hedge our investment in a
Japanese subsidiary but do not otherwise actively hedge
this exposure. We do not enter into derivative financial
instruments for speculative purposes. From time to time
we enter into forward sale or purchase contracts for for-
eign currencies to hedge specific receivables or payables
positions. As of December 31, 2000, the aggregate
notional amount of these contracts was $2.5 million.
Holding other variables constant, if the U.S. dollar weak-
ened by 10%, the market value of foreign currency con-
tracts outstanding as of December 31, 2000 would
decrease by approximately $0.3 million. The decrease in
value would be substantially offset from the revaluation
of the underlying hedged transactions.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

We borrow funds under variable rate borrowing arrange-
ments. As of December 31, 2000, and during the entirety
of 2000, we did not hedge our exposure to interest rate
risk. We would not experience a material impact on our
income before taxes as the result of a 1% increase in the
short-term interest rates that are used to calculate our
interest expense.
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Years Ended December 31, 1999 2000

Assets

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $      11,124 $   24,031

Receivables (Note 4) 77,628 83,680

Current account with Philips (Note 15) 95 5,266

Inventories (Note 5) 59,517 59,796

Deferred income taxes (Note 11) 16,699 22,525

Other 6,796 5,850

Total current assets 171,859 201,148

Equipment (Note 6) 28,768 28,171

Purchased goodwill and technology (Note 2) 65,586 59,540

Other assets (Note 7) 21,887 25,964

Total $    288,100 $  314,823__________ ____________________ __________

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $      21,362 $    32,682

Accrued payroll liabilities 6,795 11,553

Accrued warranty reserves 8,779 15,202

Deferred revenue 20,627 20,037

Income taxes payable 6,105 9,982

Accrued restructuring costs (Note 3) 426 –

Other current liabilities (Note 8) 22,808 20,517

Total current liabilities 86,902 109,973

Bank line of credit borrowings (Note 9) 1,192 1,534

Credit facility with Philips (Note 9) 34,820 24,140

Deferred income taxes (Note 11) 10,637 9,984

Other liabilities 1,972 903

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 10 and 17) – –

Shareholders’ equity (Note 12):
Preferred stock – 500,000 shares authorized; 

none issued and outstanding – –

Common stock – 45,000,000 shares authorized; 
27,544,280 issued and outstanding as of 
December 31, 1999 and 28,488,760 issued 
and outstanding as of December 31, 2000 218,406 222,547

Note receivable from shareholder (1,116) (1,116)

Accumulated deficit (56,185) (42,874)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (8,528) (10,268)

Total shareholders’ equity 152,577 168,289

Total $    288,100 $  314,823__________ ____________________ __________

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share data)
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Years Ended December 31, 1998 1999 2000

Net sales $    178,771 $    216,152 $ 320,300

Cost of sales (Note 8) 119,579 131,143 183,178

Gross profit 59,192 85,009 137,122

Operating expenses:
Research and development (Note 15) 19,506 21,937 31,617

Selling, general and administrative 41,426 47,650 62,834

Amortization of purchased goodwill 
and technology (Note 2) 2,516 3,717 6,151

Purchased in-process research and development 
(Note 2) – 14,089 –

Restructuring and reorganization costs (Note 3) 5,320 131 –

Total operating expenses 68,768 87,524 100,602

Operating income (loss) (9,576) (2,515) 36,520

Other income (expense):
Interest income 360 715 879

Interest expense (1,164) (1,162) (2,336) 

Valuation adjustment (Note 7) (3,267) – –

Other (58) 382 (180)

Total other expense, net (4,129) (65) (1,637)

Income (loss) before taxes and cumulative effect of 
change in accounting principle (13,705) (2,580) 34,883

Tax expense (benefit) (Note 11) (4,797) 4,800 14,073

Income (loss) before cumulative effect of change 
in accounting principle (8,908) (7,380) 20,810

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, 
net of income tax benefit of $4,405 (Note 1) – – (7,499) 

Net income (loss) $      (8,908) $      (7,380) $    13,311__________ __________ ____________________ __________ __________

Per share data (Note 13):
Basic:

Income (loss) before cumulative effect of change 
in accounting principle $         (0.49) $         (0.34) $         0.74

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle – – (0.27)

Net income (loss) $         (0.49) $         (0.34) $         0.47__________ __________ ____________________ __________ __________

Diluted:
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of change 

in accounting principle $         (0.49) $         (0.34) $         0.70

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle – – (0.25)

Net income (loss) $         (0.49) $         (0.34) $         0.45__________ __________ ____________________ __________ __________

Weighted average shares outstanding (Note 13):
Basic 18,105,808 21,745,065 28,090,554

Diluted 18,105,808 21,745,065 29,827,353

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except share data)
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Years Ended December 31, 1998 1999 2000

Net income (loss) $       (8,908) $        (7,380) $     13,311

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustment, 

zero taxes provided in 1998 and 2000, 
$1,136 taxes provided in 1999 1,160 (2,030) (1,740)

Comprehensive income (loss) $        (7,748) $        (9,410) $     11,571__________ __________ ____________________ __________ __________

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(In thousands)
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Note Accumulated

Receivable Other

Years Ended December 31, –––– Common Stock –––– From Accumulated Comprehensive

1998, 1999 and 2000 Shares Amount Shareholder Deficit Loss Total

Balance, January 1, 1998 18,077,793 $ 149,149 $                – $ (36,602) $     (7,658) $ 104,889
Net loss – – – (8,908) – (8,908)
Employee purchases of  

common stock through 
employee stock purchase 
plan (Note 12) 79,344 422 – – – 422

Stock options exercised 
(Note 12) 8,550 64 – – – 64

Shares issued to Philips for
pre-merger options 
exercised (Note 12) 1,788 – – – – –

Restricted stock purchase 
(Note 12) 150,620 1,116 (1,116) – – –

Translation adjustment – – – – 1,160 1,160

Balance, December 31, 1998 18,318,095 150,751 (1,116) (45,510) (6,498) 97,627
Net loss – – – (7,380) – (7,380)
Employee purchases of common

stock through employee stock 
purchase plan (Note 12) 141,815 764 – – – 764

Stock options exercised 
(Note 12) 56,921 452 – – – 452

Sale of stock to Philips 
(Note 2) 3,913,299 31,385 – – – 31,385

Shares issued to Micrion 
shareholders (Note 2) 5,064,150 34,684 – – – 34,684

Dividend paid to Philips 
(Note 2) – – – (3,295) – (3,295)

Restricted stock award 
(Note 12) 50,000 370 – – – 370

Translation adjustment – – – – (2,030) (2,030)

Balance, December 31, 1999 27,544,280 218,406 (1,116) (56,185) (8,528) 152,577
Net income – – – 13,311 – 13,311
Employee purchases of 

common stock through 
employee stock purchase 
plan (Note 12) 189,062 1,404 – – – 1,404

Stock options exercised 
(Note 12) 389,095 3,250 – – – 3,250

Shares issued to Philips for 
pre-merger options 
exercised (Note 12) 383,823 – – – – –

Sale of stock to Philips 5,000 144 – – – 144
Repurchase of common stock (22,500) (657) – – – (657)
Translation adjustment – – – – (1,740) (1,740)

Balance, December 31, 2000 28,488,760 $ 222,547 $     (1,116) $   (42,874) $  (10,268) $ 168,289___________ __________ __________ __________ __________ _____________________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In thousands, except share data)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
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Years Ended December 31, 1998 1999 2000

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $      (8,908) $      (7,380) $     13,311

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to 
net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 5,621 8,513 10,359

Amortization 3,004 5,198 7,920

Loss on retirement of fixed assets and demonstration systems 1,101 1,355 176

Purchased in-process research and development – 14,089 –

Deferred taxes on income (7,125) (1,190) (6,479)

Valuation adjustment 3,267 – –

Restricted stock award – 370 –

Decrease (increase) in assets:
Receivables 1,524 (11,172) (6,052)

Inventories (3,940) 7,015 3,074

Other assets 1,474 (7,450) (732)

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable (3,055) 7,226 11,320

Current accounts with Philips (4,031) (6,307) (5,171)

Accrued payroll liabilities 390 2,000 4,758

Accrued warranty reserves 1,947 (3,778) 6,423

Deferred revenue 4,508 (3,129) (590)

Accrued restructuring costs 2,966 (2,629) (426)

Other liabilities 4,084 13,496 517

Net cash provided by operating activities 2,827 16,227 38,408

Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of equipment (11,883) (8,335) (13,901)

Investment in software development (2,291) (2,866) (2,413)

Investment in unconsolidated affiliate (Note 7) – (3,000) (1,250)

Purchase of Micrion, net of cash acquired (Note 2) – (32,869) –

Purchase of sales and service organizations, 
net of cash acquired (Note 2) – 170 –

Net cash used in investing activities (14,174) (46,900) (17,564)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from (repayments of) bank lines of credit (Note 9) (10,594) (16,398) 342

Net borrowings (repayments) under credit facility with Philips 
(Note 9) 19,099 15,721 (10,680)

Proceeds from exercise of stock options and employee 
stock purchases 486 1,216 4,654

Proceeds from sale of stock to Philips (Note 2) – 31,385 144

Dividend paid to Philips (Note 2) – (3,295) –

Repurchase of common stock – – (657)

Net cash provided by (used in) by financing activities 8,991 28,629 (6,197)

Effect of exchange rate changes 1,160 (2,030) (1,740)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (1,196) (4,074) 12,907

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 16,394 15,198 11,124

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $       15,198 $       11,124 $     24,031__________ __________ ____________________ __________ __________

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Business FEI Company and its wholly-
owned subsidiaries (the “Company” or “FEI”) design,
manufacture, market and service products based on
charged particle beam technology. The Company’s
products include transmission electron microscopes
(“TEMs”), scanning electron microscopes (“SEMs”),
focused ion-beam systems (“FIBs”) and products that
incorporate a SEM and FIB into a single system (“Dual-
Beam Systems”). The Company also sells some of the
components of electron microscopes and FIBs to other
manufacturers. The Company has manufacturing opera-
tions in Hillsboro, Oregon; Peabody, Massachusetts;
Eindhoven, The Netherlands; and Brno, Czech Republic.
Sales and service operations are conducted in the U.S.
and 21 other countries, constituting a majority of the
worldwide market for the Company’s products. Prior to
December 1999, the Company’s products were sold
through distribution agreements with affiliates of
Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V. (“Philips”) located
in approximately 20 countries. The Company also sells
its products through independent representatives in cer-
tain countries. The Company’s products are sold to
semiconductor manufacturers, thin film head manufac-
turers in the data storage industry and to industrial and
institutional organizations.

Consolidation and Basis of Presentation The
consolidated financial statements include the accounts
of FEI Company and all of its wholly-owned subsidiaries.
All significant intercompany balances and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation.

On February 21, 1997, FEI Company (“Pre-Combina-
tion FEI”) acquired substantially all of the assets and lia-
bilities of the electron optics business of Philips Business
Electronics International B.V. (“Philips Business Elec-
tronics”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Philips, in a
transaction accounted for as a reverse acquisition (the
“PEO Combination”). Accordingly, purchase account-
ing was applied to the assets and liabilities of Pre-
Combination FEI.

On August 13, 1999, FEI Company acquired Micrion
Corporation (“Micrion”), a Massachusetts corporation
engaged in the design, manufacture, sale and service of
focused charged particle beam systems, in a transaction
accounted for under the purchase method. Accordingly,
purchase accounting was applied to the assets and liabil-
ities of Micrion. Micrion’s results of operations are
included in the consolidated financial statements for
the period subsequent to August 13, 1999 (see Note 2).

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except share data)

Concentration of Credit Risk Instruments that
potentially subject the Company to concentration of
credit risk consist principally of trade accounts receivable.
This risk is limited due to the large number of entities
comprising the Company’s customer base and their dis-
persion across many different industries and geographies.

Dependence on Key Suppliers Although many of
the components and subassemblies included in the
Company’s system products are standard products, a sig-
nificant portion of the mechanical parts and subassem-
blies are custom made by one or two suppliers, including
Philips Enabling Technologies Group B.V. (“Philips
Enabling Technologies Group”). In addition to Philips
Enabling Technologies Group, the Company obtains a
significant portion of its component parts from a second
supplier, Turk Manufacturing Co. A third supplier, RIPA
Holding B.V., is currently a sole source for electronic
subassemblies that were, until recently, manufactured at
the Company’s facilities in Eindhoven. The Company
believes some of the components supplied to it are avail-
able to the suppliers only from single sources. Those
parts subject to single or limited source supply are moni-
tored by the Company to ensure that adequate sources
are available to maintain manufacturing schedules.
Although the Company believes it would be able to
develop alternate sources for any of the components
used in its products, significant delays or interruptions
in the delivery of components from suppliers or difficul-
ties or delays in shifting manufacturing capacity to new
suppliers could have a material adverse effect on the
Company. In the ordinary course of business, the
Company continually evaluates its existing suppliers
and potential different or additional suppliers to deter-
mine whether changes in suppliers may be appropriate.

Use of Estimates in Financial Reporting The
preparation of financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S.
requires management to make estimates and assump-
tions. These estimates and assumptions affect the re-
ported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the finan-
cial statements and the reported amount of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from such estimates and assumptions.
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Foreign Currency Translation Assets and liabili-
ties denominated in a foreign currency are translated to
U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect on the respec-
tive balance sheet date. Gains and losses resulting from
the translation of net assets are included in accumulated
other comprehensive loss on the consolidated balance
sheet. Revenues, costs and expenses are translated using
an average rate of exchange for the period. Realized and
unrealized foreign currency transaction gains and losses
are included in the consolidated statements of opera-
tions and aggregated $96, $362 and $(267) for the years
ended December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000, respectively.

Forward Exchange Contracts Most of the
Company’s subsidiaries transact business in their func-
tional currencies as well as currencies other than their
functional currencies. As a result, changes in foreign cur-
rency exchange rates may have an impact on the
Company’s operating results. Forward exchange con-
tracts are used to hedge a portion of the risk of foreign
currency fluctuations. Realized and unrealized gains and
losses on such contracts were deferred and recognized in
the consolidated statements of operations concurrent
with the hedged transaction.

Asset Impairment The Company evaluates the
remaining life and recoverability of equipment and oth-
er assets, including intangible assets, whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the asset may not be recoverable. If there is an
indication of impairment, the Company prepares an
estimate of future, undiscounted cash flows expected to
result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposi-
tion. If these cash flows are less than the carrying value
of the asset, the Company adjusts the carrying amount
of the asset to the lower of its carrying value or its esti-
mated fair value.

Cash and Cash Equivalents Money market funds
and other highly liquid instruments with maturities of
three months or less at the date of acquisition are con-
sidered to be cash equivalents.

Inventories are stated at lower of cost or market with
cost determined by standard cost methods which
approximate the first-in, first-out method. Inventory
costs include material, labor and manufacturing over-
head. Service inventories that exceed the estimated
requirements for 12 months based on recent usage levels
are reported as other assets. Management has estab-
lished inventory reserves based on estimates of excess
and/or obsolete current and noncurrent inventory.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED

Deferred Income Taxes Deferred income taxes 
are provided for temporary differences between the
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial and tax
reporting purposes.

Equipment, including systems used in research and
development activities, production and in demonstra-
tion laboratories, is stated at cost and depreciated over
the estimated useful life of approximately three to seven
years using the straight-line method. Leasehold im-
provements are amortized over the shorter of their eco-
nomic lives or the lease term. Maintenance and repairs
are expensed as incurred.

Purchased Goodwill and Technology Purchased
goodwill, which represents the excess of cost over the
fair value of net assets acquired, is amortized on a
straight-line basis over the estimated economic life.
Existing technology intangible assets purchased in a
business combination, which represent the estimated
value of products utilizing technology existing as of the
combination date discounted to their net present value,
are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful life of the technology. The value of purchased in-
process research and development in a business combi-
nation, which represents the net present value of prod-
ucts under development as of the combination date, is
expensed immediately following the date of business
combination. Changes in technology could affect the
Company’s estimate of the useful lives of such assets. 
(See Note 2.)

Software Development Costs The Company capi-
talizes certain software development costs for software
expected to be sold with the Company’s products. Such
costs are capitalized after the technological feasibility of
the project is determined and are reported in other
assets. These costs are amortized over the estimated eco-
nomic life of the software. Changes in technology could
affect the Company’s estimate of the useful life of such
assets. (See Note 7.)

Product Warranty Costs The Company’s products
generally carry a one-year warranty. A reserve is estab-
lished at the time of sale to cover estimated warranty
costs and certain commitments for product upgrades.
The Company’s estimate of warranty cost is based on its
history of warranty repairs. While most new products
are extensions of existing technology, the estimate
could change if new products require a significantly 
different level of repair than similar products have
required in the past.

Deferred Revenue represents customer deposits on
equipment orders and pre-paid service contract revenue.
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Revenue Recognition and Cumulative Effect of
Change in Accounting Principle For products pro-
duced according to the Company’s published specifica-
tions, revenue is recognized when the title to the prod-
uct and the risks and rewards of ownership pass to the
customer. For products produced according to a particu-
lar customer’s specifications, revenue is recognized when
the product meets the customer’s specifications and
when the title and the risks and rewards of ownership
have passed to the customer. In each case, the portion of
revenue applicable to installation and customer accept-
ance is recognized upon meeting specifications at the
installation site. For new applications of the Company’s
products where performance cannot be assessed prior to
meeting specifications at the installation site, no rev-
enue is recognized until such specifications are met.

The Company also provides service for its products.
Revenue from time and materials based service arrange-
ments is recognized as the service is performed. Revenue
from service contracts is recognized ratably over the
term of such service contracts.

The Company’s billing terms on TEMs, SEMs, FIBs
and DualBeam systems generally include a hold-back of
10 to 20 percent on the total purchase price subject to
completion of the installation and final acceptance
process at the customer site. Effective January 1, 2000,
the Company changed its revenue recognition policy to
defer the portion of revenue related to installation and
final acceptance until such installation and final accept-
ance are completed. This change was made in accor-
dance with the implementation of U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No.
101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements (“SAB
101”). Previously, the Company had recognized 100 per-
cent of revenue for products at such time as the product
specifications had been met and the title and risks and
rewards of ownership had transferred to the customer
since the Company has historically completed such
installation services successfully and since such services
have required minimal costs to complete. The effect of
this change, net of income taxes, is reported as the
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principal in
the year ended December 31, 2000. This net effect
reflects the deferral as of January 1, 2000 of $8,442 of
revenue previously recognized. The Company recog-
nized the $8,442 in revenue included in the cumulative
effect adjustment as of January 1, 2000 during the year
ended December 31, 2000.

Research and Development costs are expensed as
incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation The Company meas-
ures compensation expense for its stock-based employee
compensation plans using the method prescribed by
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting

for Stock Issued to Employees. The Company provides pro
forma disclosures of net income and earnings per share
as if the method prescribed by Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based

Compensation (“SFAS No. 123”), had been applied in
measuring compensation expense. (See Note 12.)

Supplemental Cash Flow Information Cash
paid for interest totaled $1,226, $1,121 and $1,836 for
the years ended December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000,
respectively. Cash paid for income taxes totaled $4,107,
$336 and $13,263 for the years ended December 31,
1998, 1999 and 2000, respectively.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging

Activities (“SFAS No. 133”). The statement will require
recognition of all derivatives as either assets or liabilities
on the balance sheet at fair value. The Company adopt-
ed SFAS No. 133 effective January 1, 2001. Because of the
Company’s minimal use of derivatives, the adoption of
SFAS No. 133 did not have a material effect on earnings
or the financial position of the Company.

2. Mergers and Acquisitions

Micrion Corporation – August 1999

On August 13, 1999, the Company acquired all of the
outstanding common stock of Micrion in exchange for
5,064,150 newly issued shares of the Company’s com-
mon stock plus $30,385 in cash. The merger was
accounted for as a purchase and, accordingly, purchase
accounting was applied to the assets and liabilities of
Micrion. The total purchase price of $69,355 consisted
of the fair value of the Company’s newly issued shares of
common stock, the cash paid to Micrion shareholders
and transaction costs of $4,286, including investment
banking fees and legal fees associated with required reg-
ulatory processes.
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The Company obtained independent appraisals of the
fair market value of the intangible assets, inventory and
equipment acquired in order to assist management in
allocating the total purchase price to the assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. To determine the value of each
of Micrion’s product lines, management projected prod-
uct revenues, gross margins, operating expenses, future
research and development costs, income taxes and
returns on requisite assets. The resulting operating in-
come projections for each product line were discounted
to net present value. This approach was applied to exist-
ing technology as well as to research and development
projects which had not yet been proven technologically
feasible and which had not yet generated revenue at the
date of the acquisition. For existing technology product
lines, the discount rate used was 15 percent, represent-
ing management’s estimate of the equity cost of capital
for Micrion. For products which had not yet been
proven technologically feasible, the discount rates
applied ranged from 21 to 23 percent, reflecting the esti-
mated equity cost of capital plus a premium for the risk
and uncertainty associated with successful completion
and market acceptance for such unproven products.

Management allocated the Micrion purchase price to
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as follows:

Current assets, including 
cash of $1,801 $ 32,683

Equipment 6,342
Existing technology intangible asset 16,277
Goodwill 24,091
In-process research and development 14,089
Deferred income taxes 2,807
Liabilities assumed (26,934)

Total purchase price $ 69,355________________

In estimating the value of purchased in-process
research and development, the Company identified four
significant projects under development at the date of
the acquisition. Two of those categories represented
enhancements to the resolution and automation of
existing products designed primarily for the semicon-
ductor industry. The third project represented enhance-
ments to the automation of products for the data storage
industry. The fourth project represented development
efforts on products for the lithography photo mask
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repair market. None of the projects in these categories
had been proven technologically feasible or had generat-
ed revenue as of the date of the evaluation. In accor-
dance with the Company’s policy to expense research
and development costs as they are incurred, a one-time
charge of $14,089 associated with the write-off of
acquired in-process research and development was
recorded immediately subsequent to the closing of the
merger. Because of the nature of these projects, there is
always the risk that a technological hurdle may be
encountered that may delay, prevent or increase the
development cost of these projects.

In estimating the value of existing technology acquired,
five existing product categories were identified. Three of
those product categories are designed primarily for the
semiconductor industry, one of those product categories
is designed primarily for the data storage industry and
another of those product categories is designed for the
mask repair market. All of the above product categories
are currently generating revenue for the Company.

The amortization periods for existing technology 
and goodwill have been established at 10 and 12 years,
respectively. The product lines associated with the exist-
ing technology are expected to continue to generate rev-
enues for an extended period of time. The Company’s
major product lines consist of basic platform systems,
which are modified and enhanced over time as new fea-
tures and capabilities are added to the platform. It is pos-
sible that estimates of anticipated future gross revenues,
the remaining estimated economic life of products or
technologies or both, may be reduced due to competi-
tive pressures or other factors. Management periodically
evaluates the remaining economic useful lives and
amortization periods for these intangible assets.

Pro forma combined statements of operations data,
presented as if the merger had occurred on January 1 of
each year are as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 1998 1999*

Net sales $ 224,194 $ 235,890_________ __________________ _________
Net loss $ (17,845) $  (17,480)_________ __________________ _________
Pro forma net loss per share $      (0.66) $       (0.64)_________ __________________ _________
Pro forma weighted average 

shares outstanding 27,083 27,356_________ __________________ _________
* Pro forma results for 1999 include the $14,089 charge for in-process
research and development resulting from the Micrion acquisition.

Concurrent with the merger, Philips Business Elec-
tronics purchased from the Company 3,913,299 newly
issued shares of common stock for $31,385 in cash.
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Additional Philips Sales and Service

Organizations – December 1999

In December 1999, the Company acquired from Philips
the electron optics sales distribution and service opera-
tions located in 19 countries. The purchase price for
these businesses was their Net Operating Capital (“NOC”)
at the time of acquisition, plus $3,295. The purchase
price totaled $2,879, consisting of NOC of $(416), plus
$3,295. Because the transaction was conducted among
parties under common control, the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed were recorded at net book value, and
the $3,295 additional payment to Philips was treated as
a dividend. During 1999, the Company transferred such
businesses in three countries to independent representa-
tives and intends to transfer additional such businesses
to independent representatives in certain smaller market
countries in the near future.

Purchased Goodwill and Technology

Purchased goodwill and technology consisted of the 
following:

Amortization December 31,
Period 1999 2000

Existing technology 
from PEO Combination, 
net of amortization of 
$3,893 and $5,268, 
respectively 12 years $  12,597 $ 11,222

Existing technology 
from Micrion acquisition, 
net of amortization of 
$543 and $2,287, 
respectively 10 years 15,734 13,990

Goodwill from PEO 
Combination, net 
of amortization of 
$3,330 and $4,472, 
respectively 15 years 13,822 12,795

Goodwill from 
Micrion acquisition, 
net of amortization of 
$658 and $2,551, 
respectively 12 years 23,433 21,533

Purchased goodwill 
and technology, net $   65,586 $  59,540_________ __________________ _________

3. Restructuring and Reorganization

On July 29, 1998, the Company implemented a restruc-
turing and reorganization plan to consolidate opera-
tions, eliminate redundant facilities, reduce operating
expenses and provide for outsourcing of certain manu-
facturing activities. The plan included the elimination
of 173 positions worldwide, or about 16% of the Com-
pany’s work force as of July 29, 1998. The positions
affected included manufacturing, marketing, adminis-
trative, field service and sales personnel. During the
third quarter of 1998, all affected employees were
informed of the planned terminations and the related
severance benefits they would be entitled to receive. Of
the 173 positions targeted for elimination, 76 employees
were terminated in 1998, 88 were terminated in 1999
and 9 were terminated in 2000. For certain of the termi-
nated employees in foreign countries, the Company is
required to make continuing payments for a period of
time after employment ends under existing employ-
ment laws and regulations.

During the third quarter of 1998, the Company reor-
ganized and consolidated its U.S. field service function.
The majority of the Company’s operations in Mahwah,
New Jersey were moved to Hillsboro, Oregon and con-
solidated with the U.S. field service operations located
there. The cost of this U.S. field service reorganization
included $87 in employee severance, outplacement and
related benefits for terminated employees, and $189 in
relocation and moving expenses for certain transferred
employees and the assets formerly located in Mahwah.
The charge also included $336 for lease abandonment
costs of vacating leased premises in Mahwah. These
charges are included in the table of restructuring charges
shown below. Associated with this move and consolida-
tion of U.S. field service operations were inventory
write-offs and additional obsolescence reserves for field
service inventory, which totaled $3,278. This amount
was charged to cost of sales in 1998.

In the third quarter of 1998, the Company also
undertook a plan to close its Massachusetts office and
relocate a portion of the employees. Lease abandonment
costs of $108 are included in the table below for the esti-
mated lease termination costs associated with this relo-
cation. Also in the third quarter of 1998, the Company
implemented a plan to consolidate its duplicate facilities
in each of the U.K. and Germany. $129 was incurred in
1998 and $131 was incurred in 1999 for the cost of con-
solidating these facilities.
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The various components of restructuring and reorgan-
ization charges were as follows:

Beginning Charged Ending

Accrued to Accrued

Liability Expense Settled1 Liability

Year Ended December 31, 1998:

Severance, outplace-
ment and related 
benefits for 
terminated 
employees $           – $  4,137 $ 1,436 $ 2,701

Lease abandonment 
costs for vacated 
facilities – 444 90 354

Relocation and moving 
expenses for 
employees 
and facilities – 318 318 –

Cost related to 
transferring property 
to vendors – 168 168 –

Abandonment of  
lease hold improve-
ments and fixed assets 
in location vacated; 
non-cash charge – 253 253 –

1998 Totals $           – $ 5,320 $ 2,265 $ 3,055_______ _______ _______ ______________ _______ _______ _______

Year Ended December 31, 1999:

Severance, outplace-
ment and related 
benefits for 
terminated 
employees $ 2,701 $          – $ 1,036 $ 1,665

Lease abandon-
ment costs for 
vacated facilities 354 – 332 22

Relocation and 
moving expenses 
for employees 
and facilities – 131 131 –

1999 Totals $ 3,055 $     131 $ 1,499 $ 1,687_______ _______ _______ ______________ _______ _______ _______

Year Ended December 31, 2000:

Severance, outplace-
ment and related 
benefits for 
terminated 
employees $ 1,665 $         – $ 1,138 $     527

Lease abandon-
ment costs for 
vacated facilities 22 – 22 –

2000 Totals $ 1,687 $          – $ 1,160 $     527_______ _______ _______ ______________ _______ _______ _______
1 Represents cash payments as well as effects of changes in currency trans-
lation on recorded liabilities.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED

These amounts are reported in the consolidated bal-
ance sheets as follows:

December 31, 1999 2000

Accrued restructuring costs $       426 $             –

Accrued payroll liabilities 1,261 527

Total $    1,687 $        527________ ________________ ________

4. Receivables

Receivables consisted of the following:

December 31, 1999 2000

Trade accounts receivable $ 80,680 $86,896

Allowance for doubtful accounts (3,052) (3,216)

Total receivables $ 77,628 $83,680________ ________________ ________

5. Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following:

December 31, 1999 2000

Raw materials and assembled parts $ 29,148 $ 28,917

Service inventories; 
current requirements 6,540 5,401

Work in process 20,896 19,968

Finished goods 17,824 18,523

74,408 72,809

Reserve for obsolete inventory (14,891) (13,013)

Total inventories $ 59,517 $59,796________ ________________ ________

6. Equipment

Equipment consisted of the following:

December 31, 1999 2000

Leasehold improvements $   2,962 $  3,202

Machinery and equipment 16,874 24,406

Demonstration systems 17,976 17,721

Other fixed assets 10,693 8,747

48,505 54,076

Accumulated depreciation (19,737) (25,905)

Total equipment $ 28,768 $ 28,171________ ________________ ________
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7. Other Assets

Other assets consisted of the following:

December 31, 1999 2000

Service inventories, noncurrent 
requirements, net of obsolescence 
reserves of $8,537 and $7,550, 
respectively $   11,716 $ 13,706

Capitalized software development 
costs, net of amortization of 
$1,938 and $3,629, respectively 4,821 5,260

Patents, net of amortization of 
$60 and $82, respectively 261 239

Investment in unconsolidated 
affiliates 3,000 4,250

Deposits and other 2,089 2,509

Total other assets $  21,887 $25,964________ ________________ ________

Software development costs capitalized during the
years ended December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 were
$2,291, $2,866 and $2,413, respectively. Amortization 
of software development costs was $459, $1,562 and
$1,748 for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1999 and
2000, respectively.

On September 28, 1999, the Company purchased
1,231,982 shares of preferred stock in Surface/Interface,
Inc. (“Surface/Interface”) for $3,000 in cash. In June 2000,
the Company purchased an additional 513,326 shares of
preferred stock for $1,250 in cash. As of December 31,
2000, the Company owns 12.6% of the outstanding vot-
ing stock of Surface/Interface and accounts for its invest-
ment under the cost method. Surface/Interface is a semi-
conductor capital equipment company. The Company
also holds a warrant to purchase an additional 9.5%
interest in Surface/Interface. The Company entered into
a distribution agreement with Surface/Interface where-
by the Company obtained rights to distribute and serv-
ice Surface/Interface’s stylus-based atomic force micros-
copy tool in Europe and North America.

The Company owns 500,000 shares of Norsam Tech-
nologies, Inc. (“Norsam”) preferred stock. In September
1998, the Company re-evaluated the carrying value of
this cost-method investment. Management revised its
projections of future cash flows that it expected to
receive from this investment based on Norsam’s operat-
ing results and its divestiture of certain operating assets.
Accordingly, management determined that the carrying
value of its investment was permanently impaired and
recorded a valuation adjustment of $3,267 to reduce the
carrying value of this investment to zero.

8. Product Upgrade Program

During 1998, the Company re-evaluated an upgrade
program undertaken to replace certain third party man-
ufactured parts within the installed base of a TEM prod-
uct series. In 1998, management concluded that contin-
uing to repair the defective parts was not a viable
solution and that substantially all of the installed base
would have to be upgraded with replacement parts. A
charge to cost of sales of $3,751 was recognized in 1998
to reflect the decision to proceed with these replace-
ments. $846 and $1,441, representing the estimated cost
of the program over the next twelve months, were
included in other current liabilities as of December 31,
1999 and 2000, respectively. $1,144, representing the
non-current portion of the estimated program cost, was
included in other liabilities as of December 31, 1999.

9. Bank Lines of Credit and Credit Facility
With Philips

On February 25, 1999, the Company entered into a cred-
it facility with Philips and terminated its prior bank line
of credit. In August 2000, the credit facility was amend-
ed, increasing the borrowing capacity from $50,000 to
its present $75,000 and increasing the minimum share-
holders’ equity covenant from $100,000 to $150,000.
Advances under the credit facility may be made in three
currencies and bear interest at LIBOR plus 0.75%. The
weighted average interest rates in effect at December 31,
1999 and 2000 were 5.02% and 4.44%, respectively.
Advances up to $10,000 may be made on a revolving
current account basis, with additional advances made in
maturities of one-month, three-month, or six-month
terms. The credit facility is unsecured and matures on
February 26, 2002. The credit facility terminates on the
earlier of 120 days after Philips Business Electronics’
ownership falls below 45% of the Company’s outstand-
ing common stock or 120 days after Philips no longer
includes FEI in its consolidated group for financial
reporting purposes. The credit facility requires that the
Company meet certain financial covenants, such as
interest coverage and minimum net worth. As of
December 31, 2000, the Company was in compliance
with all of these covenants. Based on management’s
intent, the borrowings outstanding under the credit
facility are classified as long-term.
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The Company also maintains a $10,000 unsecured and
uncommitted bank borrowing facility in the U.S. and
certain limited facilities in selected foreign countries. In
addition, the Company maintains a $5,000 unsecured
and uncommitted bank facility in the U.S. for the purpose
of issuing standby letters of credit. At December 31, 2000,
the Company had outstanding standby letters of credit
totaling approximately $818 to secure customer advance
deposits. The Company also had outstanding at Decem-
ber 31, 2000 a $559 foreign bank guarantee for one of its
subsidiaries. In addition, Philips has guaranteed approx-
imately $1,500 of the Company’s financial obligations.

10. Lease Obligations

Operations are conducted in manufacturing and 
administrative facilities under operating leases that
extend through 2006. The lease agreements generally
provide for payment of base rental amounts plus the
Company’s share of property taxes and common area
costs. The leases generally provide renewal options at
current market rates.

Rent expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease. Rent expense for the years ended
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 was $3,792, $3,876
and $4,998, respectively.

The approximate future minimum rental payments
due under these agreements as of December 31, 2000 are
$6,737, $5,767, $4,726, $3,809 and $2,069 for the years
ending December 31, 2001 through 2005, respectively,
and $436 thereafter.

11. Income Taxes

Income tax expense (benefit) on income (loss) before
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
consisted of the following:

Years Ended December 31, 1998 1999 2000

Current:
Federal $   2,200 $    1,415 $ 10,064

State 404 (11) 1,772

Foreign (276) 4,586 8,945

Subtotal 2,328 5,990 20,781

Deferred benefit (7,125) (1,190) (6,708)

Total tax expense 
(benefit) $ (4,797) $    4,800 $ 14,073________ ________ ________________ ________ ________
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The effective income tax rate applied to income (loss)
before cumulative effect of change in accounting princi-
ple varies from the U.S. federal statutory rate due to the
following:

Years Ended December 31, 1998 1999 2000

Expected tax expense 
(benefit) at statutory 
rates $  (4,611) $     (858) $ 12,209

Increase (reduction) in 
income taxes resulting 
from:
Foreign taxes 7 (73) (957)

Purchased in-process 
research and 
development – 4,931 –

State income taxes (478) (5) 656

Goodwill amortization 524 676 1,089

Other (239) 129 1,076

Total tax expense 
(benefit) $  (4,797) $    4,800 $ 14,073________ ________ ________________ ________ ________

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise
to significant portions of deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities are as follows:

December 31, 1999 2000

Deferred tax assets:
Accrued liabilities $    2,716 $  4,064

Warranty reserves 2,768 5,082

Inventory reserves 8,319 5,744

Allowance for bad debts 779 996

Basis differences in investments 2,069 290

Net operating loss carryforwards 2,194 –

Net capital loss carryforward – 1,360

Research and development tax 
credit carryforwards 632 –

Revenue recognition – 5,850

Other assets 1,265 2,587

Total deferred tax assets 20,742 25,973

Deferred tax liabilities:
Capitalized software 

development costs (1,574) (1,923)

Existing technology and 
other intangibles (11,786) (10,480)

Basis difference in equipment (971) (755)

Other liabilities (349) (274)

Total deferred tax liabilities (14,680) (13,432)

Net deferred tax asset $    6,062 $ 12,541________ ________________ ________
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These deferred tax components are reflected in the
consolidated balance sheet as follows:

December 31, 1999 2000

Deferred tax:
Current asset $ 16,699 $22,525

Long-term liability (10,637) (9,984)

Net deferred tax asset $    6,062 $ 12,541________ ________________ ________

The net capital loss carryforward will expire in the year
2003, if not utilized by the Company.

As of December 31, 2000, U.S. income taxes have not
been provided for approximately $35,000 of cumulative
undistributed earnings of several non-U.S. subsidiaries
because the Company intends to reinvest these earnings
indefinitely in operations outside the U.S. Upon distri-
bution of those earnings in the form of dividends or
otherwise, the Company would be subject to both U.S.
income taxes (subject to an adjustment for foreign tax
credits) and withholding taxes payable to the various
foreign countries. Determination of the amount of the
unrecognized deferred U.S. income tax liability is not
practicable because of the complexities associated with
its hypothetical calculation.

The U.S. Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) is currently
auditing the Company’s federal income tax returns for
fiscal 1998. Management believes that sufficient taxes
have been provided in prior years and that the ultimate
outcome of the IRS audit will not have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

12. Shareholders’ Equity

Capital Stock As of December 31, 2000, 3,944,397
shares of common stock were reserved for stock incen-
tive plans.

As part of the PEO Combination, the Company
agreed to issue to Philips Business Electronics additional
shares of common stock of the Company when stock
options that were outstanding on the date of the closing
of the PEO Combination (February 21, 1997) are exer-
cised. Philips Business Electronics’ right to receive addi-
tional shares also applies to specific options granted on
September 18, 1998 which replaced options outstanding
on February 21, 1997. Any such additional shares are
issued at a rate of approximately 1.22 shares to Philips
Business Electronics for each share issued on exercise of
these options. The Company receives no additional con-
sideration for these shares issued to Philips Business
Electronics under this agreement. As of December 31,
2000, 490,764 shares of the Company’s common stock
are potentially issuable and reserved for issuance as a
result of this agreement.

Also as part of the PEO Combination agreement,
until Philips’ ownership percentage of the Company’s
common stock drops below 40%, whenever the Com-
pany offers more than 0.5% of its outstanding securities
to any person or entity, Philips Business Electronics has
a reasonable opportunity to purchase from the
Company at the then current market price additional
shares necessary to maintain its ownership percentage
at up to 55%.

Stock Incentive Plans The Company maintains
stock incentive plans for selected directors, officers,
employees and certain other parties which allow the
Board of Directors to grant options (incentive and non-
qualified), stock and cash bonuses and stock apprecia-
tion rights and to sell restricted stock.

The 1995 Stock Incentive Plan (“1995 Plan”) allows
for issuance of a maximum of 4,000,000 shares. The 1995
Supplemental Stock Incentive Plan (“1995 Supplemental
Plan”) allows for issuance of a maximum of 500,000
shares. The Board of Directors’ ability to grant options
under either the 1995 Plan or the 1995 Supplemental
Plan will terminate, if the plans are not amended, when
all shares reserved for issuance have been issued and all
restrictions on such shares have lapsed or earlier, at the
option of the Board of Directors.

Options are granted under various vesting arrange-
ments, up to a maximum of five years. Options expire
after a maximum of ten years. Options outstanding are
summarized as follows:

Weighted
Average

Number Exercise
of Shares Price

Balance, December 31, 1997 1,197,315 $ 12.03
Options granted 1,711,474 7.87
Options exercised (8,550) 7.50
Options expired 

or cancelled (1,406,709) 11.92

Balance, December 31, 1998 1,493,530 7.39

Options granted 1,019,750 8.24
Options exercised (56,921) 7.93
Options expired 

or cancelled (150,474) 8.53

Balance, December 31, 1999 2,305,885 7.66

Options granted 411,050 23.23
Options exercised (389,095) 8.36
Options expired 

or cancelled (335,652) 7.86

Balance, December 31, 2000 1,992,188 $  10.71___________ __________________ _______
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During 1998, employees and directors of the Com-
pany with outstanding option grants were given the
opportunity to return stock options granted prior to
September 10, 1998 for cancellation and receiving
replacement options with new terms. In response to
this program, employees and directors of the Company
surrendered existing options and received new options
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covering a total of 1,181,348 shares. The new options
were granted on September 18, 1998 at an exercise 
price of $6.63 and vest 20 percent six months after
grant date, 20 percent one year after grant date and 20
percent per year thereafter.

Additional information regarding options outstand-
ing as of December 31, 2000 is as follows:
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––––– Options Outstanding ––––– ––––––––––– Options Exercisable –––––––––––
Outstanding Weighted Exerciseable Weighted

as of Remaining Average as of Average
Range of December 31, Contractual Exercise December 31, Exercise
Exercise Prices 2000 Life (years) Price 2000 Price

$ 6.12 – $ 6.63 803,377 7.7 $    6.61 422,522 $   6.61
$ 6.64 – $ 7.29 353,912 8.8 7.27 9,225 7.07
$ 7.30 – $ 9.00 217,366 7.8 7.89 76,911 7.94
$ 9.01 – $ 13.25 204,133 7.7 10.86 52,533 10.77
$ 13.26 – $ 22.69 224,350 9.2 21.25 12,350 15.91
$ 22.70 – $ 31.81 189,050 9.7 25.12 694 30.00

1,992,188 8.3 $  10.71 574,235 $    7.40

The weighted average fair value of options granted, 
as calculated under SFAS No. 123, was $5.95, $5.56 and
$15.65 for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1999 and
2000, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan In 1998 the Com-
pany implemented an Employee Stock Purchase Plan
(“ESPP”). Under the ESPP, employees may elect to have
compensation withheld and placed in a designated
stock subscription account for purchase of common
stock of the Company. The purchase price is set at a 15
percent discount from market price at the beginning or
end of each six-month purchase period, whichever is
lower. The ESPP allows a maximum purchase of 1,000
shares by each employee during any 12-month purchase
period. During 1998, employees purchased 79,344
shares at an average purchase price of $5.32. During
1999, employees purchased 141,815 shares at an average
purchase price of $5.39. During 2000, employees pur-
chased 189,062 shares at an average purchase price of
$7.43. At December 31, 2000, 489,779 shares of common
stock were reserved for issuance under the ESPP. The
weighted average fair value in excess of the purchase
price for ESPP shares purchased, as calculated under
SFAS No. 123, was $5.47, $2.42 and $3.55 for the years
ended December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000, respectively.

Restricted Stock Award and Purchase On June
25, 1998, in connection with the commencement of his
employment with FEI, Mr. Vahé Sarkissian, President
and Chief Executive Officer, was granted a stock bonus
of 50,000 shares of common stock of FEI. The stock was
valued at $7.41 per share, or $370, the fair market value
on the date of grant. 25,000 shares of the stock bonus
were subject to forfeiture if Mr. Sarkissian’s employment
as Chief Executive Officer of FEI terminated before
June 25, 1999.

Also on June 25, 1998, in connection with his com-
mencement of employment with FEI as Chief Executive
Officer, FEI sold to Mr. Sarkissian 150,620 shares of com-
mon stock of FEI subject to specified restrictions. The
purchase price for the shares was $7.41, or $1,116, the fair
market value on the date of purchase. The restriction on
these shares is removed at a rate of 20% on June 25, 1998
and an additional 20% annually thereafter through 
the year 2002. Effective June 25, 1998, FEI loaned Mr.
Sarkissian the amount of $1,116 for the purchase of these
restricted shares.



Disclosure of Stock Based Compensation Costs
No compensation cost has been recognized for stock
options granted or ESPP shares issued at fair value on the
date of grant or issuance. Had compensation cost for the
Company’s stock option and ESPP plans been deter-
mined based on the estimated fair value of the options
or shares at the date of grant, the Company’s net income
(loss) and net income (loss) per share would have been
reduced to the pro forma amounts shown as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 1998 1999 2000

Net income (loss):
As reported $  (8,908) $  (7,380) $ 13,311

Pro forma (10,036) (10,550) 10,974

Net income (loss) per 
share, basic:
As reported $    (0.49) $    (0.34) $     0.47

Pro forma (0.55) (0.49) 0.39

Net income (loss) per 
share, diluted:
As reported $   (0.49) $    (0.34) $     0.45

Pro forma (0.55) (0.49) 0.37

The fair value of each option grant was estimated on
the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model with the following assumptions:

Years Ended December 31, 1998 1999 2000

Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Expected volatility (based 
on historical volatility) 77.6% 72.3% 78.3%

Weighted average risk-free 
interest rate 5.3% 5.7% 6.2%

Weighted average 
expected term 7.2 years 5.7 years 5.0 years

The fair value of ESPP shares was estimated at the
start of each purchase period using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model with the following assumptions:

Years Ended December 31, 1998 1999 2000

Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Expected volatility (based 
on historical volatility) 77.6% 72.3% 78.3%

Weighted average risk-free 
interest rate 4.5% 5.1% 4.8%

Weighted average 
expected term 0.5 years 0.5 years 0.5 years

13. Earnings Per Share

The Company reports basic and diluted net income
(loss) per share in accordance with Statement of Finan-
cial Accounting Standards No. 128, Earnings per Share.
The difference between basic and diluted net income
(loss) per share is a result of the dilutive effect of options,
which are considered potential common shares. The dif-
ference between the number of shares used in the calcu-
lation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share is
as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 1998 1999 2000

Weighted average 
shares outstand-
ing – basic 18,105,808 21,745,065 28,090,554

Dilutive effect of 
stock options 
calculated using 
the treasury 
stock method – – 1,736,799

Weighted average 
shares outstand-
ing – diluted 18,105,808 21,745,065 29,827,353___________ ___________ ______________________ ___________ ___________

All potentially dilutive securities outstanding during
1998 and 1999 have been excluded from the calculation
for those years because their effect would reduce the net
loss per share and therefore would be anti-dilutive.
During the year ended December 31, 2000, 139,050
stock options have been excluded from the calculation
of diluted earnings per share because their effect would
be anti-dilutive.

14. Employee Benefit Plans

Pension Plans Employee pension plans have been
established in many foreign countries in accordance
with the legal requirements and customs in the countries
involved. The majority of employees in Europe, Asia and
Canada are covered by defined benefit pension plans
sponsored by Philips. Employees in the U.S. are not cov-
ered by defined benefit pension plans. The benefits pro-
vided by these plans are based primarily on years of serv-
ice and employees’ compensation near retirement. The
funding policy for the plans is consistent with local
requirements in the countries of establishment. The
Company’s share of the cost or benefit under these plans
is determined by Philips and allocated to the Company.
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In certain countries the return on invested assets exceeds
the cost of the benefit under these Philips pension
plans, and the Company is allocated a portion of the
rebate that Philips receives. The Company’s pension
cost (benefit) under these Philips sponsored pension
plans was $414, ($210) and ($1,576) for the years ended
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000, respectively.
Whenever Philips is no longer the majority shareholder
of the Company, employees who currently participate in
the Philips sponsored pension plans will be transferred
to other pension arrangements and the Company’s pen-
sion costs will likely increase. Because the Company’s
employees represent less than 1% of the total active par-
ticipants in these Philips plans, and because separate
pension records are not maintained for each participat-
ing company, the Company does not account for its
share of plan assets and obligations within the Philips
sponsored plans.

In certain foreign countries, employees are covered by
pension plans under local legal requirements. The total
cost of these additional pension plans was $205, $189
and $437 for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1999
and 2000, respectively. These supplemental pension
plans are not funded. A liability for the projected benefit
obligations of these supplemental plans of $827 and
$903 is included in other non-current liabilities as of
December 31, 1999 and 2000, respectively.

Provision for Post-Employment Benefits Other
Than Pensions The Company’s employees in The
Netherlands are generally covered by Philips sponsored
plans providing post-employment benefits other than
pensions. In accordance with SFAS No. 106, Philips
began accruing for the related transition obligation over
a 20 year period at the corporate level, commencing in
1993. The portion of the corporate provision allocable to
the Company’s operations is charged to the Company.
On the basis of the number of the Company’s employees
located in The Netherlands, an amount of approximate-
ly $75 each year has been allocated to the Company. 
The unrecognized part of the liabilities allocated on the
same basis to the Company amounts to approximately
$700 at both December 31, 1999 and 2000.
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Profit Share Plan In the year ended December 31,
2000, the Company implemented a Profit Share Plan
(“PSP”) covering substantially all employees of the
Company who are not already covered by an incentive
compensation plan. The PSP pays employees a share of
company profits on a semi-annual basis, subject to
approval by the Company’s Board of Directors. For the
year ended December 31, 2000, the total cost of the PSP
was $2,155. During 1998 and 1999, the Company main-
tained an Employee Incentive Plan (“EIP”) for employees
in the U.S., that was based on achieving certain targeted
levels of operating income determined by the Board of
Directors on a year-to-year basis. For the years ended
December 31, 1998 and 1999, the total cost of the EIP
was $118 and $695, respectively.

Profit Sharing 401(k) Plan The Company has a
profit sharing 401(k) plan that covers substantially all
U.S. employees. Employees may defer a portion of their
compensation, and the Company may contribute an
amount approved by the Board of Directors. The Com-
pany matches 100 percent of employee contributions 
to the 401(k) plan, up to one and one half percent of
each employee’s eligible compensation. In addition, a
supplemental match may be approved by the Board of
Directors, based on company performance, up to a max-
imum of an additional three percent of eligible compen-
sation. Employees must meet certain requirements to be
eligible for the Company matching contribution. For
the years ended December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000, the
Company contributed $559, $676 and $1,312, respec-
tively, to this plan.

15. Related-Party Activity

Sales to Philips Organizations A number of Philips
sales organizations acted as distributors for the Com-
pany’s products through November 1999 in their respec-
tive countries (see Note 2). In addition, certain Philips
business units purchase the Company’s products for
internal use. Sales to Philips amounted to $16,684,
$17,763 and $9,518 during the years ended December 31,
1998, 1999 and 2000, respectively.

Materials Purchases from Philips (See Note 1.) 
A substantial portion of the subassemblies included in
the Company’s FIBs, TEMs and SEMs are purchased from
Philips Enabling Technologies Group. Materials purchas-
es from Philips and its affiliates amounted to approxi-
mately $14,450, $18,600 and $26,398 for the years end-
ed December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000, respectively.
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Purchases Under Philips Arrangements From
time to time, the Company purchases materials, sup-
plies and services under collective purchase agreements
and purchase conditions negotiated by Philips for the
benefit of its group of companies. For this service, the
Company has paid a fixed annual fee amounting to
approximately $67, $186 and $127 for the years ended
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000, respectively. The
Company also participates in certain business insurance
programs under terms arranged by Philips. The benefits
to the Company of these arrangements cannot be calcu-
lated precisely, but management believes that the costs
of procuring these goods and services on a stand alone
basis would be higher than the cost under the Philips
arrangements.

Employment Related Arrangements Through
the majority shareholdings of Philips, the Company 
had the benefit of certain collective bargaining arrange-
ments and the Philips rate for social charges in The
Netherlands and other countries. Whenever Philips is
no longer the majority shareholder, the Company will
have to negotiate new collective bargaining arrange-
ments and there will be a new social charge rate applied
to the Company, which will result in increased labor
costs for the Company. (See also Note 14.)

Leased Facilities from Philips The Company leas-
es sales, service and administrative facilities from Philips
in certain countries under various services agreements
(see “Other Services Provided by Philips” below).

Development Services Provided by Philips
During 1998, the Company entered into a research and
development contract with the Philips Enabling Tech-
nologies Group for the development of the stage assem-
bly for the Company’s next generation of instruments.
In September 1998, the contract was terminated before
completion, and the Company agreed to settle its obli-
gations to Philips Enabling Technologies Group for
design and development services rendered under the
contract for $3,581. This amount is included in research
and development expense in the year ended
December 31, 1998.

The Company also purchases research and develop-
ment services from Philips’ central research facility.
During the years ended December 31, 1998, 1999 and
2000, the Company paid $300, $950 and $1,668, respec-
tively, for such services.

All of the patents used by the Company relating to its
Electron Optics business segment products and certain
Microelectronics business segment products are licensed
from Philips and its affiliates. As part of the PEO Com-
bination, the Company acquired perpetual rights to cer-
tain patents owned by Philips. In addition, the Com-
pany has access to technology through cross-licenses
between Philips affiliates and a large number of manu-
facturers in the electronics industry worldwide, and the
Company’s patents are also subject to such cross-licens-
es. Some of these cross-licenses provide the Company
with the right to use intellectual property that relates to
its core technologies. In general these cross licenses are
subject to continued majority ownership of the
Company by Philips, and whenever that majority own-
ership ceases, the Company may lose these rights. This
could result in increased royalty costs, or patent
infringement actions and the costs associated with such
claims, including direct costs as well as the diversion of
management and technical resources.

Other Services Provided by Philips In connection
with the PEO Combination, the Company entered into
various services agreements with Philips affiliates for the
purpose of defining ongoing relationships. These agree-
ments set forth certain rights and obligations of the
Company, Philips and their respective affiliates on a
prospective basis. The agreements afford the Company
continued access to the research and development
resources of Philips on a fee basis (see above), and pro-
vide for the parties’ respective rights to intellectual prop-
erty. These service agreements also provide for Philips
affiliates to continue to provide certain administrative,
accounting, customs, export, human resources, import,
information technology, logistics, occupancy and other
services that have been provided to the Company in the
past. During the years ended December 31, 1998, 1999
and 2000, the Company paid Philips approximately
$3,250, $2,750 and $3,600 for these administrative and
other services.

Current Accounts with Philips Current accounts
with Philips represent accounts receivable and accounts
payable between the Company and other Philips units.
Most of the current account transactions relate to deliv-
eries of goods and materials.

Current accounts with Philips consist of the following:

December 31, 1999 2000

Current accounts receivable $    4,921 $   8,085

Current accounts payable (4,826) (2,819)

Total $           95 $  5,266________ ________________ ________

39

FEI Company and Subsidiaries



Agreement with Philips Effective as of December
31, 2000 The Company, Philips Business Electronics
and Philips entered into an agreement effective as of
December 31, 2000 (the “Supplemental Agreement”)
that clarifies certain relationships and transactions
between the parties. Certain terms of the agreement
become effective on the earlier of 120 days after Philips
Business Electronics’ ownership falls below 45% of the
Company’s outstanding common stock or 120 days after
Philips no longer includes FEI in its consolidated group
for financial reporting purposes (a “Triggering Event”).
The agreement addresses, among other things, patents
and intellectual property, research and development
services, use of the Philips name and trademark, partici-
pation in Philips’ insurance programs and the Philips
credit facility. If a Triggering Event occurs, the Company
will no longer participate in certain Philips sponsored or
administered programs. The Company may continue to
purchase certain of these services from Philips, at rates
yet to be negotiated. In addition, certain of these servic-
es would be procured from other suppliers. Management
estimates that its cost to procure these services from oth-
er suppliers or from Philips under a negotiated rate
would be in excess of the amounts currently paid to
Philips. Under terms of the agreement Philips will pay
up to $6,000 to the Company over a three-year period
which would reduce the effect of any increased costs.
These payments would terminate on a change of control
of FEI, as defined in the agreement.

Other Related Party Transactions For the years
ended December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000, the Company
made equipment sales of $1,721, $372 and $1,811,
respectively, to a customer in which the Company’s
Chief Executive Officer has an ownership interest. As of
December 31, 2000, the Company also had outstanding
$492 in lease guarantees for this customer (see Note 17).

In September 1999 the Company made an invest-
ment of $3,000 in an unconsolidated affiliate in which
the Company’s Chief Executive Officer has an owner-
ship interest. In June 2000 the Company made an addi-
tional investment of $1,250 in this same unconsolidated
affiliate (see Note 2).

16. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Management believes the carrying amounts of cash 
and cash equivalents, receivables, current account with
Philips, accounts payable and other current liabilities
are a reasonable approximation of the fair value of those
financial instruments because of the nature of the
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underlying transactions and the short-term maturities
involved. Management believes that the carrying
amounts of bank line of credit borrowings and the credit
facility with Philips are a reasonable approximation of
the fair value of those financial instruments because
they bear interest at revolving market rates and because
of the short-term maturities involved. The fair value of
the Company’s investment in unconsolidated affiliates
is not readily determinable as the securities are not
actively traded.

International operations give rise to market risks from
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Forward
exchange contracts are used to hedge a portion of the
risk of foreign currency fluctuations. The Company’s
practice generally is to hold such hedge contracts to
maturity. The fair value of such contracts is not material.
The counter-parties to such transactions are major
financial institutions. Accordingly, no provision for
counter-party non-performance has been made. As of
December 31, 2000, the notional amount of forward
exchange contracts outstanding totaled approximately
$2,458, maturing at various dates through January 2001.
The difference between the contracted rate and the spot
rate at December 31, 2000 amounted to an unrealized
gain of $173.

17. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

The Company is a party to litigation arising in the ordi-
nary course of business. In the opinion of management,
these actions will not have a material adverse effect, if
any, on the Company’s financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

In conjunction with the acquisition of Micrion in
August 1999, the Company assumed potential liability
in connection with a 1996 class action securities suit
brought against Micrion. In December 1999, the U.S.
District Court for the District of Massachusetts granted
the Company’s renewed summary judgement motion.
In January 2000, the plaintiffs appealed the decision to
the U.S. Court of Appeals for the First Circuit. The
appeal is pending in the First Circuit Court of Appeals,
which heard oral argument in the case on December 6,
2000, and currently has the matter under advisement.
The Company expects that it will be several months
before the appeal is decided. The Company continues to
believe the complaint to be without merit and intends
to continue its vigorous defense of the claims.

The Company is self-insured for certain aspects of its
property and liability insurance programs and is respon-
sible for deductible amounts under certain policies. The
deductible amounts generally range from $10 to $250
per claim.
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The Company participates in third party equipment
lease financing programs with U.S. financial institutions
for a small portion of products sold. Under these
arrangements, the financial institutions have limited
recourse with the Company on a portion of the out-
standing lease portfolio. Under certain circumstances,
the Company is obligated to exercise best efforts to re-
market instruments, should they be reacquired by the
financial institutions. As of December 31, 2000, the
Company had guarantees outstanding under these lease
financing programs, which totaled $1,203, related to
lease transactions entered into from 1996 through 1999.

18. Segment and Significant Customer
Information

The Company operates in four business segments. The
Microelectronics segment manufactures and markets
FIBs and DualBeam systems. Microelectronics segment

products are sold primarily to the semiconductor and
data storage markets, with additional sales to the indus-
try and institute market. The Electron Optics segment
manufactures and markets SEMs and TEMs. Electron
Optics products are sold in the industry and institute
market to materials and life sciences customers, as well
as in the semiconductor and data storage markets. The
Components segment manufactures and markets elec-
tron and ion emitters, focusing columns and components
thereof. These components are used in the Company’s
FIB, DualBeam, SEM and TEM systems and are also sold
to other electron microscope and FIB manufacturers.
The Customer Service segment services the Company’s
worldwide installed base of products, generally under
service contracts. (See also Note 1.)

The following table summarizes various financial
amounts for each of the Company’s business segments:
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Micro- Electron Customer Corporate and
electronics Optics Components Service Eliminations Total

1998:

Sales to external customers $   54,596 $   79,906 $   15,528 $    28,741 $                – $ 178,771
Inter-segment sales – 7,660 4,215 – (11,875) –

Total sales 54,596 87,566 19,743 28,741 (11,875) 178,771
Gross profit 20,584 29,323 8,364 1,189 (268) 59,192
Depreciation & amortization 2,665 1,992 750 702 2,516 8,625
Operating income (loss) (1,508) (3,155) 4,831 (1,541) (8,203) (9,576)
Total assets 56,276 85,121 6,904 13,557 29,280 191,138

1999:

Sales to external customers 84,061 83,158 11,733 37,200 – 216,152
Inter-segment sales – 10,169 4,274 – (14,443) –

Total sales 84,061 93,327 16,007 37,200 (14,443) 216,152
Gross profit 40,357 30,051 5,339 10,239 (977) 85,009
Depreciation & amortization 4,484 3,521 1,023 697 3,986 13,711
Operating income (loss) 8,559 2,513 2,695 6,800 (23,082) (2,515)
Total assets 95,642 81,619 5,925 35,922 68,992 288,100

2000:

Sales to external customers 147,307 107,982 18,277 46,734 – 320,300

Inter-segment sales 1,019 5,588 5,690 – (12,297) –

Total sales 148,326 113,570 23,967 46,734 (12,297) 320,300

Gross profit 77,451 42,960 9,513 8,113 (915) 137,122

Depreciation & amortization 5,906 3,312 985 1,658 6,418 18,279

Operating income (loss) 31,554 8,312 6,463 2,912 (12,721) 36,520

Total assets 96,590 107,723 12,347 33,458 64,705 314,823



The Microelectronics segment includes the activity of
Micrion from August 14, 1999 and thereafter, including
1999 sales of $12,779. The 1998 gross profit and operat-
ing income (loss) reflect non-recurring charges of $3,083
in the Microelectronics segment and $6,443 in the
Electron Optics segment. Inter-segment sales are shown
at cost, with no markup for gross profit within the sell-
ing segment, and are eliminated in consolidation. Cor-
porate administration expenses, amortization of pur-
chased goodwill and technology, charges for in-process
research and development, and restructuring and reor-
ganization costs are not allocated to the Company’s
business segments. Assets that cannot be assigned to a
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specific segment are shown as corporate assets, including
purchased goodwill and technology.

The Company’s long-lived assets were geographically
located as follows:

December 31, 1999 2000

U.S. $ 102,093 $ 97,002

The Netherlands 8,714 10,684

Other 5,434 5,989

Total $ 116,241 $ 113,675_________ __________________ _________

The following table summarizes sales by geographic
region:
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North America Europe Asia Pacific Other Total

1998:

Product sales to customers $   58,933 $   48,881 $   38,370 $     3,846 $ 150,030
Service sales to customers 15,468 12,178 1,095 – 28,741

Total sales $   74,401 $   61,059 $   39,465 $     3,846 $ 178,771________ ________ ________ ________ ________________ ________ ________ ________ ________

1999:

Product sales to customers $   74,093 $  49,402 $   50,052 $     5,405 $ 178,952
Service sales to customers 20,036 13,818 3,148 198 37,200

Total sales $   94,129 $  63,220 $   53,200 $     5,603 $ 216,152________ ________ ________ ________ ________________ ________ ________ ________ ________

2000:

Product sales to customers $113,080 $  73,253 $ 86,523 $         710 $273,566

Service sales to customers 24,637 14,528 7,472 97 46,734

Total sales $ 137,717 $  87,781 $  93,995 $         807 $320,300________ ________ ________ ________ ________________ ________ ________ ________ ________

Sales to customers in the U.S. were $73,190, $92,590
and $135,054 for the years ended December 31, 1998,
1999 and 2000, respectively. Sales to customers in Japan

were $39,287 for the year ended December 31, 2000.
Sales to no other country represented 10% or more of
total sales in 1998, 1999 or 2000.



To the Board of Directors 

and Shareholders of

FEI Company

Hillsboro, Oregon

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of FEI Company and subsidiaries as of December
31, 2000 and 1999, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), sharehold-
ers’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2000. These financial state-
ments are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence sup-
porting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of FEI Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the results of their operations and their cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2000, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company implemented Securities and
Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements, effective
January 1, 2000.

Portland, Oregon
February 9, 2001

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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Our common stock is traded on The Nasdaq National
Market under the ticker symbol “FEIC.”  The following
table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and
low bid prices for our common stock, as reported by the
Nasdaq Stock Market’s National Market:

High Low

1999

First quarter $ 12 1/4 $ 7 7/16

Second quarter 8 7/8 6 1/2

Third quarter 9 3/4 6 3/4

Fourth quarter 15 15/16 6 3/4

2000

First quarter 34 1/2 13 1/4

Second quarter 31 1/4 16 5/8

Third quarter 33 1/2 20
Fourth quarter 25 15/16 15

MARKET FOR COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED SHAREHOLDERS MATTERS

As of March 16, 2001 there were approximately 127 hold-
ers of record of our common stock.  We believe the num-
ber of beneficial owners is substantially greater than the
number of record holders because a large portion of our
outstanding common stock is held of record in broker
“street names” for the benefit of individual investors.
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